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Pacific Radiance Ltd. (“PRL” or the “Company”) is at the forefront of supporting the offshore oil and gas 
and renewable energy sectors. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) maintain a 
global presence with offices and operations in Asia, Middle East and Latin America. The Group strive to 
stay relevant to clients’ needs, ensure reliable service delivery and execution, as well as adapt to changing 
market conditions by diversifying service offerings and adjusting strategies accordingly.

Over the years, the Group has established a strong foothold across Asia as well as across emerging oil and 
gas markets in Middle East, Africa and Latin America. Helmed by a highly experienced management team 
and well supported by a network of reliable partners, the Group enjoys access to markets with cabotage 
restrictions.

Established in 2006, PRL is listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange since 2013 and is a 
well-recognised brand in the sector. Strategically located in the maritime hub of Singapore, the Group 
operates a 33,000 square metres state-of-the-art shipyard with over 180 metres of water frontage, 
featuring two 6,000 DWT dry docks as well as facilities for equipment fabrication, testing and maintenance 
purposes.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

In the year 2023, the global energy crisis caused by the 
demand-supply imbalance post-pandemic and aggravated 
by the Russia-Ukraine war have eased somewhat. This has 
resulted in a pullback in oil prices from their peaks in 2022, 
followed by some semblance of price stability in the course 
of 2023. However, the energy markets remain unsettled 
given the geopolitical tensions and global economic 
uncertainty. Continued fighting in Ukraine, more than a year 
after Russia’s invasion, is now accompanied by the Israel-
Hamas conflict in the Middle East. The macroeconomic 
mood is generally downbeat, with the impact of inflation 
and interest rates on global growth dominating investor and 
market sentiments.

Against this complex backdrop, the offshore support vessel 
(“OSV”) industry continued to improve throughout the year 
in 2023. Demand for OSVs surged as offshore exploration 
and production rebounded from the lows in previous years. 
However, OSV supply was tight due to fleet reductions and 
delayed investments during the preceding years when the 
industry underwent significant restructuring. This has led 
to an upswing in vessel utilisation and charter rates. After 
a challenging and prolonged downturn which plagued the 
OSV industry from late 2014 to 2021, we are now seeing a 
strong return to more positive market conditions.

“After successfully 
navigating the 
challenges posed 
by the pandemic, 
restructuring our 
balance sheet and 
diversifying our 
earnings base, we 
now stand poised for 
growth across our key 
markets.”

PACIFIC RADIANCE
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

04

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT



CONTINUING OUR RACE TO RESILIENCE
The Group has emerged resilient from the turbulent 
years in the oil and gas industry. We have embarked on 
a transformative journey to expand our revenue base 
and improve operational agility. For FY2023, the Group 
concluded the year with revenue of US$31.4 million and 
gross profit of US$12.5 million from ship management and 
shipyard activities. The Group’s EBITDA after adjusting for 
non-recurring items was positive at US$5.0 million.

To strengthen the Group’s financial position, we undertook 
a rights issue exercise which was completed in February 
2024. Part of the funds raised will go towards supporting 
our strategic expansions, including opportunistic vessel 
acquisitions in the offshore oil and gas as well as offshore 
wind industries.

The OSV market experienced a considerable tightening over 
the past year and we anticipate that demand from the oil 
and gas industry will continue to surpass available supply 
in the near term. Concurrently, the offshore wind industry 
is anchored by the imperative need for both secure and 
affordable energy sources as well as to achieve climate 
goals in the long term. Given these market dynamics, we 
are committed to leveraging our core expertise, expansive 
client network, and robust supplier relationships to advance 
our growth objectives. With our reinforced financial and 
operational capabilities, we aim to capitalize on the 
opportunities in both industries to foster a sustainable 
growth for our stakeholders.

FOSTERING SUSTAINABLE GROWTH
Amidst these developments, we recognise that our pursuit 
for growth should not come at the expense of environmental 
degradation. We seek to integrate environmental 
considerations into our operations, ensuring that we not only 
grow but do so responsibly. To this end, we will continue to 
work in partnership with our stakeholders to optimise energy 
efficiency, reduce waste generation, embrace renewable 
energy sources and implement environmental-friendly 
practices across our supply chain.

IN APPRECIATION
I would like to extend my gratitude to my esteemed fellow 
Board members for their valuable stewardship of the Group 
during the year. Notably, I would like to offer special 
acknowledgement to our Independent Directors – Mr Ng 
Tiong Gee, Mr Yong Yin Min and Mr Goh Chong Theng, who 
will be retiring from the Board this year. The collective 
contributions of our Independent Directors have played a 
pivotal role in Pacific Radiance’s journey, particularly during 
the remarkably challenging periods in the OSV industry.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express a deep 
appreciation to the Group’s management and staff, who 
form the backbone of the organisation, for their dedicated 
contributions and hard work. After successfully navigating 
the challenges posed by the pandemic, restructuring our 
balance sheet and diversifying our earnings base, we now 
stand poised for growth across our key markets.

I would also like to thank our shareholders and business 
partners for their unwavering support and trust. I am 
optimistic for the year ahead and look forward to the 
opportunities it will bring. I have full confidence that 
the resilience we have honed through the harsh market 
conditions in the past years will see us through any 
challenges ahead.
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MR. PANG YOKE MIN
Executive Chairman 

Mr. Pang Yoke Min was named the Group’s Executive 

Chairman in January 2013, after having served as its 

principal adviser in 2012. Mr. Pang was also the Group’s 

Non-Executive Director from January 2007 to December 

2011 and was last re-elected as a Director of the Company 

on 29 April 2021. He transformed the Group into a major 

provider of offshore and marine services and currently 

retains responsibility for the overall strategic direction of 

the Group.

A veteran of the offshore oil and gas industry with more 

than 30 years of experience, Mr. Pang co-founded Jaya 

Holdings Limited in 1981 and was its managing director 

until 2006.

Mr. Pang was formerly a non-independent and non-

executive director of GYP Properties Limited (formerly 

known as Global Yellow Pages Limited) which was listed on 

Singapore Exchange. He was a member of the nominations, 

audit and remuneration committees at GYP Properties 

Limited.

Mr. Pang graduated with a Diploma in Business 

Administration from the Institute of Business 

Administration in Australia.

MR. PANG WEI MENG
Executive Director

Chief Commercial Officer

Mr. Pang Wei Meng was appointed as one of the Group’s 

Executive Directors in November 2006 and was last 

re-elected as a Director of the Company on 29 April 

2021. He was appointed the Acting Chief Commercial 

Officer on 1 January 2020 and heads the Group’s Offshore 

Support Services and Subsea business divisions as well as 

oversaw their day-to-day operations. Further, he has the 

primary responsibility of dealing with new clients for the 

chartering of vessels. He was re-designated the Group’s 

Chief Commercial Officer on 1 April 2023 and is responsible 

for chartering, ship management and operations of the 

Group’s Offshore Support Services.

Mr Pang played a key role in the Group’s formative years, 

during which his responsibilities included marketing, 

business development and finance.

Mr. Pang graduated with a Diploma in Mechanical 

Engineering from Singapore Polytechnic and a Bachelor of 

Commerce in Finance and Accounting from the University 

of New South Wales, Australia.

MR. NG TIONG GEE
Lead Independent Director 

Mr. Ng Tiong Gee was appointed as the Group’s Lead 

Independent Director on 28 October 2013 and was last 

re-elected as a Director of the Company on 28 April 2022. 

He has substantial experience in the information technology 

sector and strategic human resource management.

Mr. Ng was the senior vice president for innovation and 

technology at Resorts World Sentosa. He was also at 

various times during his tenure there responsible for the 

Engineering and Estate Management divisions of Resorts 

World Sentosa. He held various key positions at Digital 

Equipment Singapore (now part of Hewlett-Packard), 

Siemens Microelectronics Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. (now 

known as Infineon Technologies Asia Pacific), Gateway 

Incorporated, STATS ChipPAC and United Test and 

Assembly Center Ltd., and his roles included, among 

others, director of information systems and services, chief 

information officer and chief human resource officer.

Mr. Ng was formerly a non-executive and independent 

director of GYP Properties Limited (formerly known as 

Global Yellow Pages Limited) and the chairman of its 

remuneration committee as well as a member of its audit 
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and nominations committees. At present, Mr Ng is an 

independent director of Y Ventures Ltd. and the chairman 

of its nomination committee as well a member of its 

remuneration and audit committees. He also serves as the 

chairman of Yellow Pages Pte. Ltd., an online directory 

and digital marketing company, the director of Ren Ci 

Hospital and the president of Tech Talent Assembly, an 

NTUC-affiliated association.

Mr. Ng graduated with a Bachelor of Mechanical 

Engineering from the National University of Singapore and 

holds a Master of Business Administration from Nanyang 

Technological University of Singapore. He has also attended 

the Advanced Management Program in Harvard Business 

School.

MR. YONG YIN MIN
Independent Director 

Mr. Yong Yin Min was appointed a Non-Executive Director in 

2006 and was re-designated as an Independent Director in 

2017. He was last re-elected as a Director of the Company 

on 25 June 2020. A veteran of the financial sector, he 

brings with him invaluable expertise in private, corporate 

and investment banking.

He has held senior positions at Chase Manhattan Bank, NZI 

Bank, Standard Chartered Bank, Keppel Bank, GE Capital 

and KBC Bank. At various points in his career, he headed 

teams in private and corporate banking, and served as a 

regional operations manager and a general manager for 

commercial and investment banking.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Science from the 

University of Singapore. He later earned a Master in 

Business Administration from the University of Toronto 

in Canada and a Master in Financial Engineering from the 

National University of Singapore.

MR. GOH CHONG THENG
Independent Director

Mr. Goh Chong Theng was appointed as the Group’s 

Independent Director on 28 October 2013 and was last 

re-elected as a Director of the Company on 28 April 2022. 

He is currently the corporate finance director of a large 

Indonesian group. Prior to this, he was the head of banking 

of RGE Pte. Ltd. from March 2012 to July 2013 and the 

chief financial officer of TT International Ltd. (a company 

listed on SGX) from 2010 to 2012.

Mr. Goh has garnered more than 30 years of experience 

in the banking and finance sector, mostly at international 

banks such as Citigroup, Standard Chartered Bank, ABN 

AMRO, OCBC Bank and Rabobank International, where he 

held key appointments such as senior vice president and 

head of wholesale corporate banking and also as general 

manager for Singapore branch and the region, Mr. Goh was 

the lead independent director and the chairman of the risk 

and audit committee of Winmark Investment Holdings 

Limited (formerly known as Serrano Limited), which 

was listed on the Catalist Board of Singapore Exchange. 

He is currently an independent director of IFS Asset 

Management Private Limited, a non-listed company under 

IFS Capital Limited Group, which is listed on the Singapore 

Exchange.

Mr. Goh graduated with a Bachelor of Computer Science 

from the University of Windsor, Canada and a Master in 

Business Administration (Finance and Accounting) from 

McGill University, Canada. He has attended leadership and 

management development programs at INSEAD in Paris, 

Manchester Business School and also Ashridge College in 

London.
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MR. PANG WEI KUAN, JAMES
Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Pang Wei Kuan, James joined the Group in July 2011 

and was appointed the Acting Chief Executive Officer on 

1 January 2020. He was re-designated as Chief Executive 

Officer on 1 April 2023. Mr. Pang is responsible for 

developing and implementing the Group’s strategy and 

vision and providing overall leadership and direction to 

the Group. He oversees the commercial and business 

development activities as well as the digitalisation strategy 

of the Group. He is driving the Group’s transformation to 

a best-in-class ship manager and an established player in 

new business sectors such as offshore wind.

Prior to this, Mr Pang was responsible for building up and 

strengthening the Group’s business development activities 

Having established the Group’s ventures into foreign 

cabotage markets, Mr. Pang continues to oversee these 

overseas joint ventures in Indonesia, Latin America and the 

Middle East. In recent years, Mr. Pang led the restructuring 

of the Group and negotiations with potential investors and 

other stakeholders.

Mr. Pang graduated with a Bachelor of Arts, Major in 

Economics (summa cum laude) and a Bachelor of Science 

in Business Administration, Major in Finance (summa cum 

laude) from Boston University in the United States of 

America.

MS. CHIA IRIS
Chief Financial Officer 

Ms. Chia Iris joined Pacific Radiance in 2017 as the Chief 

Financial Officer. She oversees the Group’s overall financial, 

accounting, taxation, corporate finance, treasury, legal 

and IT matters, and ensures compliance with financial 

reporting and other regulatory requirements.

Ms. Chia possesses more than 20 years of banking and 

corporate finance experience, mostly at DBS Bank, 

Standard Chartered Bank, Natixis and KPMG Corporate 

Finance. During her stint in banking, Ms. Chia completed 

numerous financing and capital markets transactions 

and provided advisory services across multiple industry 

sectors, including transportation (shipping and aviation), 

telecommunications, media and technology, real estate, 

retail, food and beverage, industrial, trading and automotive 

sectors. She also oversaw teams across business segments 

for local corporates, large conglomerates and multi-

national corporates.

Ms. Chia holds a Master of Science (Applied Finance) from 

the National University of Singapore and a Bachelor of 

Accountancy from the Nanyang Technological University. 

She has also completed the Chartered Financial Analyst 

Program.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Mr. Pang Yoke Min 
Executive Chairman

Mr. Pang Wei Meng
Executive Director

Mr. Ng Tiong Gee
Lead Independent Director

Mr. Goh Chong Theng
Independent Director

Mr. Yong Yin Min
Independent Director

AUDIT AND SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Mr. Goh Chong Theng, Chairman
Mr. Yong Yin Min
Mr. Ng Tiong Gee

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yong Yin Min, Chairman
Mr. Ng Tiong Gee
Mr. Goh Chong Theng

NOMINATING COMMITTEE 
Mr. Ng Tiong Gee, Chairman 
Mr. Yong Yin Min
Mr. Pang Wei Meng

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Lin Moi Heyang, ACIS 
Ms. Low Mei Wan, ACIS

REGISTERED OFFICE
15 Pandan Road
Singapore 609263
Tel +65 6238 8881
Fax +65 6278 2759 
www.pacificradiance.com

SHARE REGISTRAR AND SHARE TRANSFER OFFICE
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
9 Raffles Place
#26-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

AUDITORS AND REPORTING AUDITORS 
PKF-CAP LLP
6 Shenton Way
OUE Downtown 1 #38-01
Singapore 068809 
Appointed since financial year ended 2023 (“FY2023”)

Partner-in-Charge:
Mr Lee Eng Kian
Chartered Accountant,
a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants
Appointed since FY2023

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Citibank Singapore Ltd.
8 Marina View
Asia Square, Tower 1
#21-00
Singapore 018960
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FY2023 was marked by geopolitical turbulences in the 
Middle East and the ongoing conflict in Ukraine. Whilst 
the pandemic came to an end in many parts of the world, 
pressing issues like climate change, geopolitical tension, 
commodity shortages, and supply chain disruptions 
remained. Rising inflation and interest rates also impacted 
the global economy. In this challenging environment, the 
Group exhibited steadfast resilience amidst unexpected 
disruptions and achieved a notable performance in FY2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and Profitability
The Group posted revenue for continuing operations of 
US$31.4 million in FY2023, a 5% increase from US$29.9 
million in FY2022. This was mainly due to the increase in 
ship management revenue as ship management services 
were extended to more third-party vessel owners.

Operations was weighed down by higher operating 
expenses, resulting in the contraction of gross profit 
by approximately 9% to US$12.5 million for the year 
under review. The Group continued to keep a tight lid on 
overheads, with general and administrative expenses 
decreasing by 6% to US$12.4 million.

Overall, excluding non-recurring write-back of doubtful 
receivables, amount due from related companies and 
property, plant and equipment, the adjusted EBITDA 
remained positive at US$5.0 million.

Segmental Performance
Revenue from ship management business increased 
by 14.8% to US$17.5 million for FY2023 as the Group 
expanded its ship management services to third party 
vessel owners.
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Revenue from shipyard business decreased by 5.0% 
to US$13.9 million for FY2023 due to lower repair and 
maintenance activities performed during the year.

OPERATIONS REVIEW
FY2023 was a year of adjustment for the Group as it 
emerged from restructuring to successfully transiting to 
a ship management business. The Group remain focused 
on extracting the maximum return from its core expertise, 
riding on the recovery in the oil and gas industry, whilst 
continuing to diversify and grow its presence as a ship 
manager.

The Group continued to deliver operational excellence 
in its ship management activities for third party vessel 
owners, who remain the core of the business. Efficiency 
and reliability are the key hygiene factors clients have 
come to expect from the Group’s ship management 
services. In the face of macroeconomic headwinds, 
geopolitical instability and accelerating paradigm shifts in 
the industry, these requirements have become ever more 
important, and the Group remains committed on providing 
better solutions to meet those demands.

Drawing upon its expertise, reputation and network, 
the Group was able to secure high quality charter 
contracts for vessel owners. The Group continued to 
focus on attaining operational efficiency and working 
in close collaboration with vessel owners to optimise 
vessel utilisation, taking into consideration the repair and 
maintenance program required to ensure vessel reliability. 
Crew management and training remained a priority, 
underscoring the importance of ensuring crew readiness 
and proficiency to meet rigorous standards. Safety and 
environmental management systems were kept up to date 
to ensure that they remained robust and complied with 
evolving international standards and industry practices.

In FY2023, the Group jointly developed a behavioural-based 
safety application that facilitates the collection and 
analysis of data during operations on board vessels on 
a digital platform. This enables the Group to provide 
analytical tools to vessel owners and charterers to take 
preventive and proactive steps in improving the safety of 
vessel operations.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY
Uncertainty looms over the macroeconomic and global 
market outlook, owing to several key risks. Geopolitical 
tensions persist as the most visible risks, with the 
situation around the conflicts in Gaza and Ukraine 
remaining unresolved. These risks contribute to volatility 
in energy prices and disruptions to supply chains, with 
spillover effects to global growth and business costs, in 
addition to the tragedy of human toll.

Moreover, inflation may prove challenging to curb, 
prompting central banks to delay interest rate cuts. 
Prolonged high interest rates may also potentially trigger 
another financial event. The convergence of slowing 
economic growth and elevated interest rates also raises 
concerns about debt sustainability, posing risks for both 
corporate entities and sovereigns. A potential debt crisis 
could escalate a soft economic landing into a severe 
downturn, impacting the global financial markets.

Despite the fragility of the macroeconomic environment 
and wide-ranging risk scenarios, the current expectation 
within the OSV industry points to the continued 
strengthening of market conditions driven by demand 
from both the oil and gas as well as offshore wind sectors. 
Vessel supply is expected to remain constrained with few 
newbuilds in the pipeline and limited remaining vessels 
available for reactivation.

The Group entered FY2024 in a strong position, with 
positive tailwinds in its key markets and a stronger balance 
sheet in place. The Group will continue to capitalise on 
its expertise and reputation as an owner-operator built 
over the years to fortify its ship management business 
with existing and prospective business partners. Having 
successfully completed a rights issue in January 2024, 
the Group now holds another lever to pursue growth that 
align with its strategy.

Offshore Wind
The outlook for the offshore wind sector in Asia over the 
next five years remains promising, with many countries in 
the region committing to increase their use of renewable 
energy, including offshore wind. The Group anticipates 
devoting resources to drive targeted growth in this sector. 
The demand for OSVs in the offshore wind industry is 
expected to increase in the next few years with the 
increasing development and commissioning of wind 
farms. As the offshore wind industry continues to grow, 
more wind turbines are being installed in deeper waters, 
increasing the need for specialised vessels to transport 
equipment and personnel to the installation site. The 
Group also sees robust demand for OSV to perform 
maintenance and servicing of the wind turbines and 
ancillary activities such as geotechnical, meteorological, 
and oceanographic surveys.

The Group has accumulated significant experience and 
track record as a project supervisor for the construction 
and management of crew transfer vessels in Taiwan over 
the last few years. The Group strives to leverage on its 
strong reputation and expertise in shipbuilding, project 
management and ship management to extend beyond the 
current success in this rising market.
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Pacific Radiance Ltd. (“PRL” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are committed to 
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance to ensure greater transparency, to protect shareholders’ interests 
and enhance shareholders’ value.

The Group adopts practices based on the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “Code”) issued on 6 August 2018. 
This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices that were in place throughout the financial year 
ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”), with specific reference made to the principles and provisions as set out in the 
Code and Mainboard listing manual of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Listing Manual”), where 
applicable.

While it is always the objective of the Group to ensure all the provisions in the Code are followed strictly, there may 
be situations and reasons where compliance with the provisions of the Code may not be feasible or meaningful for the 
Group. In this regard, if there are areas where current practices deviate from the Code, appropriate explanations are 
provided accordingly.

(A) BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of Its Affairs

Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with Management 
for the long-term success of the company.

The primary function of the Board of Directors of PRL (the “Board”) is to provide effective leadership and direction 
and work with the management of PRL (the “Management”) to enhance the long-term value of the Group for its 
shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Board sets the tone for the Group in respect of ethics, values and desired organisational culture, and ensures 
proper accountability within the Group.

The Board has the overall responsibility for reviewing the strategic plans and performance objectives, financial 
plans and performance reviews, key operational initiatives, major funding and investment proposals and corporate 
governance practices.

In general, the principal duties of the Board include:

• setting and reviewing the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the Group to meet these objectives;

• establishing and maintaining a framework for the oversight of adequacy and effectiveness of internal control, 
risk management, financial reporting, and compliance;

• reviewing the performance of senior management;

• reviewing the Group’s values and standards (including ethical standards) and ensuring that obligations to 
shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met; and

• considering sustainability issues, e.g., environmental and social factors, as part of the strategic formulation.
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Directors are required to promptly disclose any conflict or potential conflict of interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
in relation to any matters, transactions or proposed transactions with the Group as soon as practicable after the 
relevant facts have come to their knowledge. Any Director who has a conflict of interest which is likely to impact his 
independence or conflict with a subject under discussion by the Board is required to immediately declare his interest to 
the Board and recuse himself from participating in any discussion and voting on the subject matter.

Directors are constantly kept abreast of developments in the business including changes to laws and regulations, 
corporate governance, financial reporting standards and industry-related matters that are of relevance to the Group 
through participation in the relevant training courses, seminars, and workshops conducted by the Management and 
professional advisors. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding the training of directors, where required.

The Executive Chairman, CEO and senior management executives provide briefings to new directors to familiarise them 
with the Group’s business and governance practices to enable them to assimilate into their new roles in the Board. 
Through the briefing sessions, new directors can get acquainted with the senior management executives, thereby 
facilitating board interaction and independent access to senior management executives.

In addition to the above, the external and internal auditors of the Group regularly brief the audit and sustainability 
committee members at their meetings on developments in accounting and governance standards, cybersecurity 
matters and changes in code of corporate governance and listing rules. The CEO and senior management executives 
also update the Board at board meetings on the industry and the Group’s strategic and business developments, 
whenever necessary.

Matters specifically reserved for the Board’s approval are key matters such as appointment of directors, appointment 
of key management personnel, group policies, annual budgets, major acquisitions and disposal of assets not in 
the ordinary course of business, major corporate or financing exercise, including share issuance, declaration or 
recommendation of dividends, as well as interested person transactions. Clear directions have been given to the 
Management that such matters must be approved by the Board. Apart from the reserved matters as stated above, the 
Board also approves transactions exceeding certain threshold limits, while delegating authority for transactions below 
those limits to the Management to optimise operational efficiency.

While key matters relating to the Group’s strategic objectives and policies require the Board’s direction and approval, 
the management executive committee comprising key management personnel and senior management executives is 
responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management of the business operations of the Group and implementing the 
strategies objectives and policies approved by the Board.

The Board has delegated certain functions to various board committees, namely the audit and sustainability committee 
(“ASC”), nominating committee (“NC”), and remuneration committee (“RC”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The 
Board Committees are constituted with clear written terms of reference setting out their compositions, authorities 
and duties. While the Board Committees have the authority to examine and may approve certain matters, the Board 
Committees generally report to the Board with their recommendations for the Board’s decisions.

Besides the scheduled Board meetings, the Directors and/or Independent Directors also meet on an ad-hoc basis as 
and when necessary or warranted by circumstances. Participation by telephone and video conference at Board and 
Board Committees meetings are allowed under the Constitution of the Company. The Board and Board Committees 
also make decisions by way of written circularised resolutions.
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The Directors’ attendance at the Board, the Board Committees and general meetings of the Company held in FY2023 is 
as below:

Board
Meeting

ASC
Meeting

NC
Meeting

RC
Meeting

General
Meeting      

No of meetings held 4 5 1 1 3

Name of Directors/Executive Officers

Pang Yoke Min 4 3

Pang Wei Meng 4 1 3

Lau Boon Hwee (retired on 27 April 2023) 1 1

Yong Yin Min 4 5 1 1 3

Ng Tiong Gee 4 5 1 1 3

Goh Chong Theng 4 5 1 3

The NC assessed each Director’s contribution and devotion of time and attention to the Company’s affairs, having 
regard to his attendance at the meetings of the Board and Board Committees, directorship in other listed companies, 
principle commitments, is of the view that the number of directorships in listed companies and principle commitments 
are not significant and there were sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs given by each Director during 
the course of FY2023.

Each Director’s listed company board directorships and principal commitments can be found in the Board of Directors 
Profile section of the Annual Report.

The Management recognises the importance of ensuring the flow of information to the Directors on an ongoing basis 
to enable them to make informed decisions and to discharge their duties and responsibilities. All Board and Board 
Committees papers are distributed to Directors in advance to allow enough time for Directors to prepare for the 
meetings.

The Management’s proposals to the Board for approval provide background and explanatory information such as facts, 
resources needed, risk analysis and mitigation strategies, financial impact, regulatory implications, expected outcomes, 
conclusions and recommendations.

The Board always has separate and independent access to the Management through electronic mail, telephone and 
face-to-face meetings and may request for any additional information needed at any time to enable them to make 
informed decisions. Key management personnel, the Company’s auditors and external consultants are invited to attend 
Board and Board Committees meetings to update and provide independent professional advice on specific issues, if 
required.

Should Directors, whether as a group or individually, require professional advice, the Group, upon direction by the 
Board, shall appoint a professional advisor, selected by the Group and approved by the Chairman, to render the advice. 
The cost of such service shall be borne by the Group.

Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary’s responsibilities 
include among other things, assisting in ensuring that Board procedures are observed and that the Company’s 
Constitution, relevant rules and regulations, including requirements of the Securities and Futures Act, Companies Act 
and Listing Manual, are complied with.

The Company Secretary and/or her representative attend and prepare minutes for Board and Board Committees 
meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Board Committees and the 
Management in the development of the agendas for their meetings. The appointment and the removal of the Company 
Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval.
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Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its 
composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company.

The NC is tasked to determine on an annual basis and as and when the circumstances require whether or not a 
director is independent in conduct, character and judgement, and has any relationship with the company, its related 
corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, 
with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgement in the best interests of the Company.

For the purpose of determining each Independent Director’s independence, every Independent Director has provided a 
declaration on their independence for acting as a director of the Company based on the requirements under the Code 
and deliberated upon by the NC and the Board.

The NC assessed the independence of each of the Directors in FY2023. After having considered the declarations made 
by Mr Yong Yin Min, Mr Ng Tiong Gee and Mr Goh Chong Theng and considering the criteria of independence set out 
under the Code, determined that the named Directors are independent.

With the removal of the two-tier vote mechanism for companies to retain long-serving Independent Directors on 
11 January 2023, the Independent Directors who have served for more than nine years for the Company will retire 
as Independent Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) to be held for financial 
year ended 31 December 2023.

In conjunction to the above, Mr Yong Yin Min, Mr Ng Tiong Gee and Mr Goh Chong Theng will retire as directors of 
the Company at the forthcoming AGM. Concurrently, Mr Lum Wai Meng, Mr Lim Kee Way Irwin and Mr Aris Sunarko 
will be appointed as directors of the Company in the retired Directors’ stead. The details of the three new Directors 
and their declaration under Rule 704(7) of the Listing Manual will be released via SGXNet upon members approval 
at the forthcoming AGM. After the change, the composition of the Board will remain the same which comprising 
two Executive Directors and three Independent Directors after the AGM. The NC and the Board are of the view that 
the remaining Directors provide diversity in terms of experience and expertise. The level of independence with three 
Independent Directors making up majority of the Board will meet the requirement of the Code.

The Group recognises that board diversity is an essential element contributing to its sustainable development and 
strategic success. The Group believes that board diversity augments decision-making and a diverse board is more 
effective in dealing with external change to the macro environment and internal organisational changes, and less likely 
to suffer from groupthink.

The Group has in place a Board Diversity Policy, which endorses the principle that its Board should have a balance of 
skill, knowledge, experience and diversity, such as age and gender, appropriate to the Group’s business to promote the 
inclusion of different perspectives and ideas.

The NC reviewed the composition of the Board and the Board Committees during the course of FY2023 and is of the 
view the Board and Board Committees are of an appropriate size and comprise directors with appropriate balance 
and mix of skills, knowledge and experience. The NC is satisfied that the three new Directors bring expertise and 
experience in key markets of the Group and areas of finance, corporate finance, technology and digitalization that are 
important to the growth of the Group. Two of the three new Directors are in their 50s and this has improved the age 
diversity of the Board. The NC recognises the need to enhance gender diversity of the Board. Accordingly, one of the 
objectives of the NC is to seek and propose potential female candidates for the role of director, who would expand the 
skill repertoire of the Board, within the next three years.

The Independent Directors, led by Mr Ng Tiong Gee, the Lead Independent Director of the Company, met regularly 
outside the Company without the presence of the Management on an informal basis during the course of FY2023, to 
discuss matters which require their additional attention. The Lead Independent Director provides feedback to the 
Chairman of the Board where appropriate.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, and no one 
individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

The Board is chaired by Mr Pang Yoke Min, Executive Chairman of the Company while Mr Pang Wei Kuan, James was 
appointed as CEO of the Company with effect from 1 April 2023.

Mr Pang Wei Kuan, James is the son of the Mr Pang Yoke Min, the Executive Chairman and substantial shareholder of 
the Company. Despite being related, there is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO. The 
division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the Management ensures that no one individual has 
unfettered powers of decision-making at both the board and management level.

The Executive Chairman is responsible for:

• leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness;

• managing the Board’s business, including supervising the work of the Board Committees;

• setting the Board agenda and ensuring the information flow and timing are adequate for discussion of all set 
agenda items, in particular strategic issues;

• setting the tone of the Board discussion to promote open and frank debate and effective decision-making;

• facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors;

• ensuring effective communication with shareholders; and

• encouraging constructive relations with the Board and between the Board and the Management.

The CEO is responsible for:

• developing the Group’s business and operation strategies;

• managing the present businesses of the Group;

• implementing the Board’s decisions;

• provide oversight of the commercial, marketing, business development and quality, health, safety, security and 
environmental functions; and

• managing and overseeing major corporate exercise of the Group.

Given that the Chairman is non-independent, the Board has appointed Mr Ng Tiong Gee as the Lead Independent 
Director of the Company. The Lead Independent Director is available to shareholders where they have concerns 
and for which contact through the normal channels of communication with the Chairman or the Management are 
inappropriate or inadequate.
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Board Membership

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors, taking 
into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

The NC comprises the following three members, two of whom are Independent Directors:

• Ng Tiong Gee (NC Chairman), Lead Independent Director

• Yong Yin Min, Independent Director

• Pang Wei Meng, Executive Director

The NC is responsible for:

• nomination and re-nomination of the directors of the Company having regard to their contribution, performance, 
and ability to commit sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group, and taking into account their 
respective commitments outside the Group;

• determining annually whether or not a director is independent;

• deciding whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a director;

• review of board succession plans for directors, and the appointment and/or replacement of the Executive 
Chairman, the CEO and key management personnel;

• development and implementation of a process and criteria for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its 
committees and directors;

• formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, Board Committees and individual directors;

• review of training and professional development programs for the Board and its directors;

• review and approval of new employment of persons related to the directors and controlling shareholders and 
the proposed terms of their employment; and

• appointment and re-appointment of directors (including alternate directors, if any). The Company has no 
alternate director on its Board.

The NC has put in place a formal process for the selection of new directors to increase transparency of the nomination 
process in identifying and evaluating nominees for directors.

The NC leads the process as follows:

• the NC evaluates the balance, skills, knowledge, and experience of the existing Board and the requirements of 
the Group. Considering such evaluation, the NC determines the role and the key attributes that an incoming 
director should have;

• after endorsement by the Board of the key attributes, the NC taps on the resources of directors’ personal 
contacts for recommendations of the potential candidates and goes through a short-listing process. If 
candidates identified from this process are not suitable, executive recruitment agencies will be appointed to 
continue the search process;

• the NC meets with the shortlisted candidate(s) to assess suitability and to ensure that the candidate(s) is/are 
aware of the expectations and the level of commitment required; and

• the NC recommends the most suitable candidate to the Board for appointment as director.
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The NC is responsible for re-election of directors. In its deliberations on the re-election of existing Directors, the NC 
takes into consideration the Director’s contribution and performance (including his contribution and performance as an 
Independent Director, if applicable).

The assessment parameters include attendance record and preparedness at meetings of the Board and Board 
Committees as well as the quality of input to matters arising and any other special contribution.

All Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three 
years. Regulation 89 of the Company’s Constitution provides that one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if 
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one third) with a minimum one, shall 
retire from office by rotation and be subject to re-election at the Company’s AGM.

In addition, Regulation 88 of the Company’s Constitution provides that a newly appointed director during the financial 
year must retire and submit himself/herself for re-election at the next AGM following his election. Thereafter, he is 
subject to re-election at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Regulation 89 of the Company’s Constitution, Mr Pang Yoke Min and Mr Pang Wei Meng will retire 
as a Director of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. The retiring Directors, whom being eligible, have offered 
themselves for re-election as a Director of the Company. The Board is satisfied that the retiring Directors are eligible 
for re-election by virtue of their skills, experience, their contribution of guidance and time to the Board. Each of the 
retiring Directors has abstained from deciding on his own nomination.

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual, the information relating to Director(s) submitting for re-election as set 
out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual is disclosed below:

Name of Director Pang Yoke Min Pang Wei Meng

Date of Appointment 15 November 2006 15 November 2006

Date of last re-appointment 29 April 2021 29 April 2021

Age 74 44

Country of principal residence Singapore Singapore

T h e  B o a r d ’ s  c o m m e n t s  o n  t h i s 
a p p o i n t m e n t  ( i n c l u d i n g r a t i o n a l e , 
selection criteria, and the search and 
nomination process)

T h e B o a r d  o f  D i r e c t o r s  o f  t h e 
Company has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of the 
NC and has reviewed and considered 
the qualification, work experience 
and suitability of Mr Pang Yoke Min 
for re-appointment as Executive 
Director of the Company. The Board 
has reviewed and concluded that 
Mr Pang Yoke Min possess the 
experience, expertise, knowledge and 
skills to contribute towards the core 
competencies of the Board.

T h e B o a r d  o f  D i r e c t o r s  o f  t h e 
Company has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of the 
NC and has reviewed and considered 
the qualification, work experience 
and suitability of Mr Pang Wei Meng 
for re-appointment as Executive 
Director of the Company. The Board 
has reviewed and concluded that 
Mr Pang Wei Meng possess the 
experience, expertise, knowledge and 
skills to contribute towards the core 
competencies of the Board.

Whether appointment is executive, and 
if so, the area of responsibility

Executive

Responsible for overall strategic 
direction and growth of the Group.

Executive

Responsible for commercial and 
procurement activities of the Group.

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC 
Member etc.)

Executive Chairman Executive Director

Chief Commercial Officer
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Professional qualifications • D i p l o m a  i n  B u s i n e s s 
Administration

• Bachelor of Commerce in Finance 
and Accounting

• D i p l o m a  i n  M e c h a n i c a l 
Engineering

Working experience and occupation(s) 
during the past 10 years

2013 – Present
Executive Chairman, Pacific Radiance 
Ltd.

2012 – 2013
Principal Adviser, Pacific Radiance 
Ltd.

2007 – 2011
Non-Execut ive Director ,  Pacif ic 
Radiance Ltd.

2020 – Present
Chief Commercial Officer, Pacific 
Radiance Ltd.

2006 – Present
Executive Director, Pacific Radiance 
Ltd.

2013 – 2019
Managing Director, Subsea & Project 
Logistics Division, Pacific Radiance 
Ltd.

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer 
and its subsidiaries

916,862,256 ordinary shares 45,273,160 ordinary shares

Any relationship (including immediate 
family relationships) with any existing 
director, existing executive officer, the 
issuer and/or substantial shareholder of 
the listed issuer or of any of its principal 
subsidiaries

Yes.

F a t h e r  o f  M r  P a n g  W e i  M e n g , 
E x e c u t i v e  D i r e c t o r  a n d  C h i e f 
Commercial Officer of the Company.

Father of Mr Pang Wei Kuan James, 
C h i e f  E x e c u t i v e  O f f i c e r  o f  t h e 
Company.

Yes.

Son of Mr Pang Yoke Min, Executive 
C h a i r m a n  a n d  s u b s t a n t i a l 
shareholder of the Company.

Brother  of  Mr Pang Wei  Kuan , 
James, Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company.

Confl ict of interest ( including any 
competing business)

No No

Other Principal Commitments including 
Directorships Past
(for the last 5 years)

• Duta Radiance Maritim Sdn. Bhd. 
(Struck off)

• Pacific Healthcare Holdings Ltd.

• CA Offshore Investment Inc. 
(Liquidated)

• Duta Radiance Maritim Sdn. Bhd. 
(Struck off)

• SDM Marine Pte. Ltd. (Liquidated)

Present • Alam Radiance (L) Inc

• Alam Radiance (M) Sdn Bhd

• PT Logindo Samudramakmur Tbk. 
(President Commissioner)

• GYP Properties Limited

• Radiance Investment Pte. Ltd.

• YM InvestCo Pte. Ltd.

• Alam Radiance (L) Inc.

• Alam Radiance (M) Sdn. Bhd.

• Allianz Radiance Pte. Ltd.

• Alstonia Offshore Pte. Ltd.

• AR Offshore Pte. Ltd.

• Aztec Offshore Holdings Pte. Ltd.

• Continental Radiance Offshore 
Pvt. Ltd.
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• Crest Offshore Marine Pte. Ltd.

• Crest Subsea International Pte. 
Ltd.

• CrestSA Marine & Offshore Pte. 
Ltd.

• Duta Maritime Alliances Sdn. 
Bhd.

• Duta Maritime Ventures Sdn. Bhd.

• Navigatis Radiance Pte. Ltd.

• Pacific Allianz Holdings Pte. Ltd.

• Pacific Crest Pte. Ltd.

• Pacific Offshore Marine Pte. Ltd.

• Pacific Offshore Pte. Ltd.

• PT Jawa Tirtamarin

• PT Marine Engineering Services

• Radiance Offshore Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.

• Sea Radiance Pte. Ltd.

• Strato Maritime Services Pte. 
Ltd.

• YM InvestCo Pte. Ltd.

Undertaking (in the format set out in 
Appendix 7.7) under Rule 720(1) has 
been submitted to the listed issuer

Yes Yes

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief 
financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the 
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

(a) Whether at any time during the last 
10 years, an application or a petition 
under any bankruptcy law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against him or 
against a partnership of which he 
was a partner at the time when he 
was a partner or at any time within 
2 years from the date he ceased to 
be a partner?

No No
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(b) Whether at any time during the last 
10 years, an application or a petition 
under any law of any jurisdiction 
was filed against an entity (not being 
a partnership) of which he was a 
director or an equivalent person or 
a key executive, at the time when 
he was a director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive of that 
entity or at any time within 2 years 
from the date he ceased to be a 
director or an equivalent person or 
a key executive of that entity, for 
the winding up or dissolution of that 
entity or, where that entity is the 
trustee of a business trust, that 
business trust, on the ground of 
insolvency?

No Yes

Winding up petit ions were f i led 
against CSI Offshore Pte.  Ltd. 
and Pac i f ic  Crest  Pte .  Ltd .  on 
14 May 2018. The petitions were 
subsequently dissolved following 
the completion of the scheme of 
arrangements on 11 August 2022. 
Please refer to announcement dated 
12 August 2022 released via SGXNet 
for details on the outcome in relation 
to the winding up petitions.

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied 
judgment against him?

No No

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted 
of any offence, in Singapore or 
e l s e w h e r e ,  i n v o l v i n g  f r a u d  o r 
d ishonesty which is punishable 
with imprisonment, or has been the 
subject of any criminal proceedings 
( including any pending cr iminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) 
for such purpose?

No No

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted 
of any offence, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, involving a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement that 
relates to the securities or futures 
industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 
or has been the subject of any 
criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of 
which he is aware) for such breach?

No No

(f) Whether at any time during the last 
10 years, judgment has been entered 
against him in any civil proceedings 
in Singapore or elsewhere involving 
a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the 
s e c u r i t i e s  o r  f u t u r e s  i n d u s t r y 
in Singapore or elsewhere, or a 
finding of fraud, misrepresentation 
or dishonesty on his part, or he 
has been the subject of any civil 
proceedings (including any pending 
civil proceedings of which he is 
aware)  invo lv ing an a l legat ion 
of  f raud ,  misrepresentat ion or 
dishonesty on his part?)

No No
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(g) Whether he has ever been convicted 
in Singapore or elsewhere of any 
offence in connect ion with the 
formation or management of any 
entity or business trust?

No No

(h) W h e t h e r  h e  h a s  e v e r  b e e n 
disqualified from acting as a director 
or an equivalent person of any entity 
(including the trustee of a business 
trust), or from taking part directly or 
indirectly in the management of any 
entity or business trust?

No No

(i) Whether he has ever  been the 
subject of any order ,  judgment 
or ruling of any court, tribunal or 
governmental body, permanently 
or temporarily enjoining him from 
engaging in any type of business 
practice or activity?

No No

(j) W h e t h e r  h e  h a s  e v e r ,  t o  h i s 
knowledge, been concerned with 
the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the 
affairs of:–

(i) any corporation which has been 
investigated for a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement 
g o v e r n i n g  c o r p o r a t i o n s  i n 
Singapore or elsewhere; or

(ii) a n y  e n t i t y  ( n o t  b e i n g  a 
corporation) which has been 
investigated for a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement 
g o v e r n i n g  s u c h  e n t i t i e s  i n 
Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has 
been investigated for a breach 
o f  a n y  l a w  o r  r e g u l a t o r y 
requirement governing business 
trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; 
or

(iv) any ent ity or business trust 
which has been investigated for 
a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the 
securities or futures industry 
in Singapore or elsewhere, in 
connect ion with any matter 
occurring or arising during that 
period when he was so concerned 
with the entity or business trust?

No No
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(k) Whether he has been the subject 
of any current or past investigation 
or disciplinary proceedings, or has 
been reprimanded or issued any 
warning, by the Monetary Authority 
of Singapore or any other regulatory 
authority, exchange, professional 
body or government agency, whether 
in Singapore or elsewhere?

No No

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of an 
issuer listed on the Exchange?

If yes, please provide details of prior 
experience.

If no, please state if the director has 
attended or will be attending training 
on the roles and responsibilities of a 
director of a listed issuer as prescribed 
by the Exchange.

Please provide detai ls of relevant 
e x p e r i e n c e  a n d  t h e  n o m i n a t i n g 
committee’s reasons for not requiring 
t h e  d i r e c t o r  t o  u n d e r g o  t r a i n i n g 
as prescr ibed by the Exchange ( if 
applicable).

N/A N/A

The NC determines annually, and as and when circumstances require, based on a Director’s Independence Checklist 
(“Checklist”) completed, if a director is independent, having regard to the circumstances or independence criteria set 
forth in provision 2.1 of the Code. The NC determined that, during FY2023, there was no Director whose relationships 
with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders, or its officers, if any, affect their 
independence as an Independent Director of the Company. The Board is in accord with the NC’s determination.

In determining whether a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director of the 
Company, the NC also takes into account the results of the assessment of individual director, and the respective 
directors’ actual conduct on the Board, in making this determination.

Board Performance

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of its 
board committees and individual directors.

The NC conducts an annual assessment on the performance of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees and 
individual directors and considers each Director’s contribution and devotion of time and attention given to the 
Company.

This process is conducted using a questionnaire designed to assess the performance of the Board and the 
Board Committees. Individual Directors are assessed on self-evaluation basis. The responses received from the 
questionnaires are then tabulated, collated, and then given to the Chairman of the NC for his review and discussion at 
the NC meeting. The conclusion of the assessment derived from the consolidated results and recommendations are 
then presented to the Board for its review and adoption, if deem necessary.
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The Board reviews the evaluation conducted by the NC based on the consolidated results received from the Directors 
and recommendations put forward by the Directors for improvement of performance and effectiveness of the Board, 
the Board Committees, and individual directors. Following the review, the Board is of the view that the Board, the 
Board Committees and individual Directors performed consistently well and operated effectively for FY2023.

The Directors, led by the NC, assessed the performance of the Chairman of the Board for FY2023 at the Board meeting 
and provided the feedback to the Chairman of the Board.

There was no external consultant involved in the Board evaluation process in FY2023. The NC performed the following 
activities in FY2023:

• reviewed the re-election of Directors, and making recommendation to the Board for their approval;

• reviewed the independency of the Independent Directors;

• evaluated the performance and effectiveness of the Board, the Board Committees, Individual Directors and the 
Chairman;

• reviewed the training and professional development programs for the Directors;

• reviewed the current Board size and composition; and

• reviewed matters relating to Board diversity.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive 
remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management personnel. No 
director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The RC comprises the following three members, all of whom are Independent Directors:

• Yong Yin Min (RC Chairman)

• Ng Tiong Gee

• Goh Chong Theng

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive 
remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management personnel. No 
member of the RC is involved in deliberations in respect of any remuneration, compensation, options, or any form of 
benefits to be granted to him.

The members of the RC carried out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference which include the following:

• review and recommend to the Board for endorsement, a framework of remuneration for the Board and key 
management personnel which covers all aspect of remuneration, including but not limited to, director’s fees, 
salaries, allowances, bonuses, grant of shares, and share options and benefits in kind;

• review and recommend to the Board, the specific remuneration packages for each director as well as for the 
key management personnel;

• consult professional consultancy firms where necessary in determining remuneration packages;
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• consider the various disclosure requirements for directors’ remuneration and ensure that there is adequate 
disclosure in the financial statements and annual report to enhance transparency between the Company and 
relevant interested parties; and

• review all aspects of remuneration of Executive Directors and key management personnel including the 
Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of their service contracts, to ensure the contracts 
contain fair and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous.

The RC has access to the professional advice of external experts in the area of remuneration, where required. No 
consultant was engaged by the Company in FY2022 FY2023.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are appropriate 
and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, taking into account the strategic 
objectives of the company.

Executive Directors are paid a basic salary and a performance-related bonus linked to the performance of the 
Company. Key management personnel are paid a basic salary and a performance bonus based on their achievement 
of key performance indicators (“KPI”). The RC will review and revise the current remuneration framework, including 
resetting the parameters and targets for KPI to make them more reflective and relevant to the Group’s business focus 
after the debt and corporate restructuring in FY2023.

The performance-related element of the Executive Directors’ and key management personnel’s remuneration is 
designed to align their interests with the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders.

The RC reviews the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors to ensure the remuneration of the non-executive 
directors of the Company is appropriate to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort, time 
spent, and responsibilities.

The RC ensures that the Independent Directors’ compensation is appropriate and at the same time does not 
compromise their independence. None of the Independent Director has any service contracts with the Company.

Directors’ fees are reviewed and endorsed by the RC.

The Board concurred with the RC’s proposal for Independent Directors’ fees for FY2023 and are of the view that the 
Directors’ fees is appropriate and not excessive.

The RC takes into consideration the need to ensure that remuneration is appropriate in order to attract, retain and 
motivate directors to provide good stewardship to the Company and key management personnel to successfully 
manage the Company for the long-term.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for 
setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation.

The remuneration of each individual Director and aggregate of top key management personnel of the Group is not 
disclosed as the Company believes that disclosure may be prejudicial to its business interests given the highly 
competitive environment it is operating in. The RC has reviewed the practice of the industry in this regard and weighed 
the advantages and disadvantages of such disclosure.

The breakdown of the Directors’ and key management personnel’s remuneration in bands of S$250,000 should, in the 
Board’s assessment, provide adequate overview of the remuneration of the Directors and key management personnel.
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The remuneration paid to or accrued to each individual Director for FY2023 is as follows:

Name of Director Fees Salary(1)
Other 

Benefits(2) Total
(%) (%) (%) (%)     

S$250,001 to S$500,000

Pang Yoke Min 9.3 64.6 26.1 100

Pang Wei Meng 11.7 63.0 25.3 100

Lau Boon Hwee 9.0 70.9 20.1 100

(retired on 27 April 2023)

Below S$250,000

Ng Tiong Gee 100 – – –

Goh Chong Theng 100 – – –

Yong Yin Min 100 – – –

The remuneration paid to or accrued to CEO for FY2023 is as follows:

Fees Salary(1)
Other 

Benefits(2) Total
(%) (%) (%) (%)     

S$250,001 to S$500,000

Pang Wei Kuan, James – 63.4 36.6 100

(1) Salary and bonus include employer’s contributions to Central Provident Fund.
(2) Other benefits refer to benefits-in-kind such as car, housing allowances, club membership etc. made available to directors as appropriate.

There is only one top key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO) whom the Company considers to 
be key executive of the Group. The remuneration paid to or accrued to the top key management personnel (who are not 
directors or the CEO) for FY2023 is as follows:

Salary(1)
Other 

Benefits(2) Total
(%) (%) (%)    

S$250,001 to S$500,000

Iris Chia 72.8 27.2 100

(1) Salary and bonus include employer’s contributions to Central Provident Fund.

(2) Other benefits refer to benefits-in-kind such as car, allowances, club membership, short-term incentives etc.

There are only two employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder of the Company and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 in FY2023:

• Mr Pang Wei Meng, son of Mr Pang Yoke Min, Executive Chairman of the Company, and brother of Mr Pang 
Wei Kuan, James, CEO of the Company, is employed by the Company as Executive Director and has received 
remuneration in that capacity.

• Mr Pang Wei Kuan, James, son of Mr Pang Yoke Min, Executive Chairman of the Company, and brother of 
Mr Pang Wei Meng, Executive Director of the Company, is employed by the Company as the CEO and has 
received remuneration in that capacity.
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For FY2023, save as disclosed in the above table which shows the breakdown of the remuneration (in percentage 
terms) of Mr Pang Wei Meng and Mr Pang Wei Kuan, James, the Company and its subsidiaries do not have any other 
employee who is an immediate family member of a director or the CEO or a substantial shareholder and whose 
remuneration exceeds S$100,000.

The Company has opted to disclose the remuneration of Mr Pang Wei Meng and Mr Pang Wei Kuan, James, in 
incremental bands of S$250,000, in line with the disclosure of other Directors and top key management personnel.

Save for Mr Pang Yoke Min, the Executive Chairman who is a substantial shareholder of the Company, there is no 
employee who is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The RC performed the following activities in FY2023:

• reviewed the remuneration packages for key management personnel and made recommendation to the Board 
for approval;

• reviewed the Directors’ Fees and made recommendation to the Board for approval.

As disclosed under Principles 7 and 8 in this report:–

a. The remuneration structure and policy of the Group are designed to support the implementation of the Group’s 
strategy and creation of shareholder value. Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel are 
reviewed and recommended by the RC to the Board on an annual basis, taking into account the strategic and 
value creation objectives of the Group. The fees for Directors comprise a basic retainer fee, additional fees for 
appointment to board committees and attendance fees for board meetings.

b. The RC considers the need to ensure that remuneration is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate Directors 
to provide good stewardship to the Group, and at the same time does not compromise the independence of the 
Independent Directors. The RC also considers other factors such as effort, time spent and responsibilities of 
the Directors. Shareholders’ approval is sought yearly at the AGM for the total Directors’ fees to be paid in the 
following financial year and the information of the total Directors’ fees is disclosed in the Notice of AGM.

c. The remuneration of Executive Directors and key management personnel comprises a fixed component and a 
performance-related component.

d. The fixed component reflects the market worth of the job and varies with responsibilities, qualifications and 
experience of the individual, as well as general employment conditions within the industry. The performance 
related component ensures the alignment of interests between the Executive Directors and key management 
personnel, with that of the shareholders’ and other stakeholder groups by factoring in various performance 
indicators, such as the performance of the Group and the performance and contribution of the individual 
towards achieving the objectives of the Group. The fixed component comprises Directors’ fees, salary and 
allowances. The performance-related component comprises variable bonus. The fixed and performance-related 
component of the remuneration of each Executive Director and key management personnel is disclosed in 
bands of S$250,000 with breakdown in percentage terms. The actual remuneration of each Executive Director 
and key management personnel is not disclosed as the RC has considered the practice of the industry and the 
advantages and disadvantages of such disclosure. The Group believes that such disclosure may be prejudicial to 
its business interests given the highly competitive environment it is operating in.

Having accorded due regard to the aforesaid disclosures and remuneration practices adopted by the Company, the 
Board is of the view that the Company’s remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for 
setting remuneration and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation are consistent with 
the intent of Principle 8 of the Code.The RC will review and revise the current remuneration framework to ensure that 
it continues to align with the Group’s business objectives in FY2024.

29

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

PACIFIC RADIANCE
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a sound system 
of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the company and its shareholders.

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. It ensures that the Management maintains a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets and determines the 
nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control and risk management, 
but recognises that no cost-effective internal control system and risk management will preclude all errors and 
irregularities. Internal controls and risk management can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement, losses, human errors, fraud or other irregularities.

The Management is responsible to the Board for the design, implementation, and monitoring of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems and to provide the Board with a basis to determine the Group’s level of risk 
tolerance and risk policies.

The Management, with the assistance of the independent internal auditor, RSM Risk Advisory Pte Ltd (“RSM” or 
“Internal Auditors”), conducts enterprise risk assessment at both the business unit level and the corporate level of 
the Group to identify the key risks that would impact the achievement of the Group’s strategies and business objective. 
The Board and the ASC also work with the Internal Auditors, the external auditors Messrs PKF-Cap LLP (“PKF” or the 
“External Auditors”), and the Management on the auditors’ recommendations to institute and execute relevant controls 
with a view to managing those risks identified in their assessment.

The Board received assurance from the CEO and CFO of the Company that the financial records of the Group have been 
properly maintained and the financial statements for FY2023 give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and 
finances.

The Board also received assurance from the CEO and the key management personnel of the Company that the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Group were adequate and effective for FY2023.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the Internal Auditors, 
discussions with the External Auditors, reviews performed by the Management and the assurances provided by 
the CEO, CFO and key management personnel as stated in the afore paragraph, the Board is of the view that the 
Group’s internal controls (including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls) and risk 
management systems were adequate and effective for FY2023.

The ASC concurs with the Board’s view that the internal controls (including financial, operational and compliance and 
information technology controls) and risk management systems in place of the Group were adequate and effective as 
at 31 December 2023.

Audit and Sustainability Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit and Sustainability Committee which discharges its duties objectively. The ASC 
comprises the following three members, all of whom are Independent Directors:

• Goh Chong Theng (ASC Chairman)

• Ng Tiong Gee

• Yong Yin Min
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The Chairman of the ASC, Mr Goh Chong Theng, graduated with a Master in Business Administration (Finance and 
Accounting) from McGill University, Canada. He is currently the corporate finance director of PT Central Cipta 
Murdaya. Prior to this, he was the head of banking of RGE Pte Ltd and the chief financial officer of TT International 
Ltd, a company listed on SGX.

The other members of the ASC have substantial experience in business management and finance services.

The NC and the Board are satisfied that the members of ASC have recent and relevant accounting or related financial 
management expertise and experience to discharge the ASC functions.

No former partner or director of the Company’s existing auditing firm or auditing corporation is a member of the ASC. 
The duties of the ASC include:

• reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Company and any announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance;

• reviewing at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk 
management systems;

• reviewing the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the financial records and financial statements;

• making recommendations to the Board on: (i) the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment and removal 
of External Auditors; and (ii) the remuneration and terms of engagement of the External Auditors;

• reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the external audit and the Company’s 
internal audit function; and

• reviewing the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other 
matters to be raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up on.

During review of the financial statements for FY2023, the ASC discussed with the Management and the external 
auditor on the significant issues that were brought to the ASC’s attention. These material issues which the external 
auditor assessed to be most significant in its audit of the financial statements for the year under review, namely 
recoverability of receivables and amounts due from related company have been highlighted in the key audit matters 
section of the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The ASC reviewed the work performed by the Management and made enquiries relevant to the key audit matters. In 
addition, the ASC also reviewed and discussed the findings presented and related work performed by the external 
auditor. The ASC was satisfied that these material issues have been properly addressed and recommendations 
appropriately adopted and disclosed in the financial statements.

The ASC reviews the independence and objectivity of the External Auditors through discussions with the External 
Auditors as well as reviewing the non-audit fees awarded to them. A breakdown of fees paid in respect of audit and 
non-audit services provided for FY2023 is disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. The ASC has reviewed all 
non-audit services provided by the External Auditors and is satisfied that these non-audit services would not affect the 
independence and objectivity of the External Auditors.

The Group has complied with Rule 712, Rule 715, and Rule 716 of the Listing Manual in the appointment of its auditors. 
The ASC recommends to the Board the reappointment of Messrs PKF-Cap LLP as the external auditors of the Group at 
the forthcoming AGM.

There are suitable auditing firms appointed by the Group for its significant foreign-incorporated subsidiaries and 
associated companies and the foreign auditing firms include member firm of Messrs PKF-Cap LLP.
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In the course of FY2023, the ASC carried out the following activities:

• reviewed quarterly and full year financial statements (audited and unaudited), and made recommendation to 
the Board for approval;

• reviewed interested/related parties’ transactions;

• reviewed audit plan and assessed the independence of External Auditors;

• reviewed internal audit plan and the appointment of internal auditors;

• reviewed the nomination of External Auditors for re-appointment at AGM and determined their remuneration, 
and made appropriate recommendations to the Board for approval; and

• met with the internal and External Auditors of the Company without the presence of the Management.

The Group recognises the importance of providing the Board with accurate and relevant information on a timely basis. 
The Management provides the Board with financial statements together with reviews of the financial and operating 
performance on a quarterly basis and as the Board may require from time to time. The ASC reviews the financial 
statements and reports to the Board for approval.

The Board reviews and approves the results before they are released. The Board provides shareholders with quarterly 
and annual financial reports. Results for the first three quarters and full financial year are released to shareholders 
within the timeframe stipulated in Rule 705 of the Listing Manual. In presenting the quarterly and annual financial 
statements to shareholders, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and clear assessment of the 
Group’s financial performance, financial position and prospects.

The ASC is kept abreast by the Management, the Company Secretaries and the Independent Auditor of changes to 
accounting standards, listing rules of the SGX-ST and other regulations which could have an impact on the Group’s 
business operations and financial reporting.

The Company has put in place a Whistle Blowing Policy which sets the framework to encourage the reporting in good 
faith of serious concerns or escalate serious matters on a confidential basis without fear of reprisal, dismissal, or 
discriminatory treatment. The Whistle Blowing Policy provides procedures to validate concerns and for investigation to 
be carried out independently by designated receiving officer.

The Group’s whistleblowing policy allows for reporting by employees or external parties of matters about 
possible improprieties to the receiving officer within the human resource department through a dedicated email: 
whistleblowing@pacificradiance.com.

Matters involving parties who are not key management personnel or senior management executives will be reviewed, 
investigated and reported to the Executive Chairman, CEO, and CFO. All such matters are also reported by the 
receiving officer to the ASC quarterly for further investigation if deemed necessary.

Matters involving parties who are key management personnel or senior management executives will be reported to the 
ASC directly for review and investigation.

The ASC has oversight on all outcomes of investigations and ensures remedial actions are taken. All members of the 
ASC are independent directors, there are no executive director in the ASC.

The ASC reviews and modify the Whistle Blowing Policy as appropriate, to maintain compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations or accommodate organisational changes within the Group. All whistle blowing cases are reported to 
the ASC on a quarterly basis for review and monitoring. The employees of the Group are aware of the existence of the 
Whistle Blowing Policy as it had been incorporated in the employee’s handbook. A copy of the Group’s Whistle Blowing 
Policy is also available on the corporate website of the Company.
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The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a system of internal controls. The Company has outsourced its 
internal audit functions to RSM for FY2023.

The internal audit function is expected to meet the standard set by internationally recognised professional bodies 
including the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of 
Internal Auditors. The Internal Auditors has unfettered access to all the Company’s documents, records, properties 
and personnel, including access to the Board, the ASC and the Management, where necessary, and has the right to 
seek information and explanation.

The Internal Auditors reports directly to the ASC and is responsible for assessing the reliability, adequacy and 
effectiveness of the system of internal controls that are in place to protect the funds and assets of the Group, 
ensuring control procedures are complied with, assessing if the operations of the business processes under review are 
conducted efficiently and effectively, and identifying and recommending improvements to internal control procedures, 
where required.

The Internal Auditors plan its internal audit schedules in consultation with, but independent of, the Management. 
The internal audit plan is submitted to the ASC for approval prior to the commencement of the internal audit. The 
ASC will review the activities of the Internal Auditors, including overseeing and monitoring of the implementation of 
improvements required for internal control weaknesses identified.

For the year under review, the ASC has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy, independence and effectiveness of 
the internal audit function.

The ASC has met with the External Auditors and the Internal Auditors, without the presence of the Management, once 
in FY2023.

(D) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders’ 
rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the company. The company gives 
shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining transparency and accountability to its shareholders. The 
Board ensures that all the Company’s shareholders are treated equitably and the rights of all investors, including 
non-controlling shareholders, are protected.

The Group is committed to providing shareholders with adequate and timely information pertaining to changes in the 
Group’s business which could have a material impact on the Company’s share price.

The last AGM of the Company was held physically at 15 Pandan Road, Singapore 609263 on 27 April 2023.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held physically at 15 Pandan Road, Singapore 609263. Arrangements 
relating to attendance at the general meetings, submission of questions to the Chairman of the meetings in advance of 
the meetings, addressing of substantial and relevant questions prior to or at the meetings and voting by appointing the 
Chairman of the meetings as proxy at the meetings, are set out in the Notice of meetings. The Annual Report, Notice of 
AGM and Proxy form will be made available to shareholders solely by electronic means via publication on SGXNET and 
the corporate website of the Company.

The Group strongly encourages shareholder participation during the AGM. Shareholders can proactively engage the 
Board and the Management on the Group’s business activities, financial performance, and other business-related 
matters.
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The Board believes that general meetings serve as an opportune forum for shareholders to meet and interact with the 
Board and the Management. Information on general meetings is disseminated through notices in the annual reports or 
circulars to all shareholders. The notices are also released via SGXNet and published in local newspapers, as well as 
posted on the corporate website of the Company.

At the AGM, a member who is a relevant intermediary which provide nominee or custodial services is entitled to 
appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting, so investors who hold shares through such 
intermediary can attend and participate in general meeting as proxies.

For greater transparency in the voting process, the Company conducts poll voting for all proposed resolutions at AGM. 
The total numbers of votes cast for or against the resolutions will also be announced after the meeting via SGXNet.

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of general meetings that include substantial and relevant comments or 
queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of the meetings, and responses from the Board and the Management.

The Company provides for separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate issue unless the 
issues are interdependent and linked to form one significant proposal.

All the resolutions at the general meetings are single item resolutions.

The Chairman of the Board and the Directors attend all general meetings to address questions and issues raised by 
shareholders. The external auditors are present to address any relevant queries from shareholders on the conduct 
of audit and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report. Key management personnel are also present at the 
general meetings to respond to operational questions from shareholders.

All Directors attended the AGM of the Company held on 27 April 2023.

The Company’s Constitution allows all shareholders to appoint up to two proxies to attend general meetings and vote 
on their behalf. As the authentication of shareholder identity and other related security issues remain a concern, the 
Group has decided not to implement voting in absentia by mail, email or fax for the time being.

Minutes of general meetings of the Company held in 2023 have been published by the Company on the SGX website 
and on its corporate website within one month after the general meetings.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy in place. The Company may declare an annual dividend with the 
approval of the shareholders in a general meeting, but the amount of such dividend shall not exceed the amount 
recommended by the Board. The Board may also declare an interim dividend without the approval of the shareholders.

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of 
shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on various 
matters affecting the company.

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate disclosure and transparency. The Group values 
dialogue sessions with its shareholders. The Group believes in regular, effective, and fair communication with 
shareholders and is committed to hearing shareholders’ views and addressing their concerns.

Material information is disclosed in an adequate, accurate, and timely manner via SGXNet, press release, and corporate 
website. If unpublished material information is inadvertently disclosed to any selected group in the course of the 
Group’s interactions with the investing community, a media release or announcement will be released to the public via 
SGXNet.
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The Company’s corporate website is the key resource of information for shareholders. In addition to the quarterly 
financial announcements, it contains investor related information on the Group, including presentations, annual 
reports, shares and dividend information and factsheets.

The Group participates in investor seminars and conferences to keep the market and investors apprised of the Group’s 
corporate developments and financial performance. Such engagements provide invaluable insights to the Board and 
the Management on investors’ views and help the Group to identify areas of improvement for investor communication.

The Company has established an investor relations policy that governs regular, effective and fair communication with 
shareholders. A copy of the Company’s investor relations policy is available on the corporate website of the Company.

The investor relations policy sets out mechanism through which shareholders may contact the Company with questions 
and through which the Company may respond to such questions i.e. emailing questions to the investor relations team.

(E) MANAGING STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

Engagement with Stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of material 
stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the company are served.

The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of material stakeholders, 
as part of its overall responsibility to work towards sustainable growth. The Company’s efforts on sustainability 
are focused on creating sustainable value for its key stakeholders, which include employees, lenders, investors and 
customers and regulators.

The Company’s strategy and key areas of focus in relation to the management of stakeholder relationships during the 
reporting period can be found under its Sustainability Report.

The Company maintains a current corporate website at https://www.pacificradiance.com/. An email alert function 
is available to members of public who wish to receive updates on the Company’s corporate information and SGXNet 
announcements.

The contact details of the investor relations teams are also available on the Company’s corporate website, to enable 
the stakeholders to contact the Company, if required.

(F) OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a 
timely manner to the ASC, and that transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial to the 
interests of the shareholders.

There are no interested person transactions entered into by the Group during the course of FY2023.

Material Contracts

Save for the service agreements entered into between the Executive Directors and the Company, there was no 
material contract entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of any Director or controlling 
shareholders subsisting as at 31 December 2023.
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Dealing in Securities

The Company has adopted an internal code on dealings in securities. Directors and employees are not allowed 
to deal in the Company’s shares during the periods commencing two weeks before announcement of the Group’s 
quarterly results and one month before the announcement of the Group’s full year results and ending on the date 
of announcement of such results, or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information on the 
Group. In addition, the employees of the Company are advised not to deal in the Company’s securities on short term 
considerations and are expected to always observe the insider trading rules, even when dealing in the Company’s 
securities within the permitted trading periods.
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The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of 
Pacific Radiance Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the statement of financial 
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

1. Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and the financial performance, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended 
then; and

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2. Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Pang Yoke Min
Pang Wei Meng
Yong Yin Min
Ng Tiong Gee
Goh Chong Theng

3. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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4. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore 
Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”), the directors of the Company who held office at the end of the financial year 
had no interest in shares and warrants of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned 
subsidiaries) except as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of director

At the 
beginning of 

financial year

At the 
end of 

financial year

At the 
beginning of 

financial year

At the 
end of 

financial year

Ordinary shares of the Company
Pang Yoke Min 182,668,564 182,668,564 46,547,000 46,547,000
Pang Wei Meng 105,500 105,500 – –
Yong Yin Min 2,771,300 2,771,300 – –
Ng Tiong Gee 2,500 2,500 – –
Goh Chong Theng 24,000 24,000 – –

Warrants of the Company
Pang Yoke Min 946,674 946,674 21,877,090 21,877,090
Pang Wei Meng 2,585 2,585 – –
Yong Yin Min 2,771,300 2,771,300 – –
Ng Tiong Gee 2,500 2,500 – –
Goh Chong Theng 24,000 24,000 – –

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial 
year and 21 January 2024.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act 1967, Pang Yoke Min is deemed to have an interest in the ordinary 
shares of all the subsidiary companies at the beginning and at the end of the financial years.

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests 
in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the 
beginning of the financial year or at the end of the financial year.
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5. Audit and Sustainability Committee

The Audit and Sustainability Committee (“ASC”) has carried out its functions in accordance with section 
201B (5) of the Act, including the following:

• reviewed with the external auditor the audit plan, their audit result and report, their management letter 
and the management’s response;

• reviewed with the internal auditor the internal audit plan and their evaluation of the adequacy of the 
internal controls and accounting system;

• monitored and reviewed the implementation of the external auditor’s and internal auditor’s 
recommendations concurred with management in relation to the adequacy of the internal controls and 
accounting system addressing financial, operational and compliance risks;

• reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company before submission 
to the Board for approval;

• considered the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditor and matters relating to resignation 
or dismissal of the auditor and approved the compensation of the external auditor;

• reviewed whistle blowing policy and monitored whistle blowing reports;

• reviewed interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Manual of 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”); and

• reviewed any potential conflict of interest as and when the need arises and resolve such conflict of 
interest.

The ASC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, is satisfied that 
the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditor.

The ASC has recommended to the board of directors that the independent auditor, PKF-CAP LLP, be nominated 
for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Further details regarding the ASC are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report.
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6. Auditor

PKF-CAP LLP has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors,

Pang Yoke Min Pang Wei Meng
Director Director

28 March 2024
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pacific Radiance Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the 
statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statements of changes 
in equity of the Group, the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated cash flow statement of the Group and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, and the statement of financial 
position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(International) (“SFRS (I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and of the consolidated financial performance, 
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the 
reporting year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 
(“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For the matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the 
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)

Recoverability of receivables, including related party balances

As disclosed in Note 15, Note 17 and Note 18 to the financial statements, the Group had gross trade receivables, other 
receivables and amount due from related companies of US$126.1 million (2022: US$192.9 million) against which 
loss allowance of US$92.8 million (2022: US$150.2 million) were recognised in accordance with SFRS (I) 9 Financial 
Instruments. The carrying amount of trade receivables, other receivables, and amount due from related companies 
of US$33.3 million (2022: US$42.7 million) represented 31% (2022: 39%) of the Group’s total assets. These balances 
comprised of US$6.7 million (2022: US$14.6 million) of trade receivables, US$8.8 million (2022: US$7.6 million) of 
other receivables and US$17.8 million (2022: US$20.6 million) amount due from related companies.

The assessment of recoverability of trade receivables, other receivables, and amount due from related companies is 
considered a key audit matter as it requires the application of significant estimates and judgements by management 
and trade receivables, other receivables, and amount due from related companies is significant to the Group’s total 
assets.

For trade receivables, and amount due from related companies, the Group applied the simplified approach and 
determined the lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”). The Group determined the ECL of trade receivables by using a 
provision matrix for the trade receivables and amount due from related companies. The Group applied the general 
3-step approach in the determination of ECL for other receivables.

The significant estimates and judgements applied in the assessment of recoverability of trade and other receivables 
and amount due from related companies are disclosed in Note 3 and Note 36 to the financial statements.

We designed our audit procedures to be responsive to this risk. As part of our audit:

• We obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit policy, credit assessment procedures, factors for 
determination of default event and recoverability assessment for trade receivables, other receivables, and 
amount due from related companies.

• We tested the aging of trade receivables at year end on a sample basis and evaluated and challenged 
the reasonableness of management’s estimates and judgements applied in the provision matrix including 
management’s determination of historical credit loss rates and management’s consideration of forward-looking 
information.

• We have also evaluated and challenged management’s assessment of loss given default and probability of 
default for trade receivables, other receivables, and amount due from related companies.

• We assessed the recoverability with reference to the future cashflows, business plans and relevant supporting 
documents for the related companies provided by management.

• We have also assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial statements.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and the statement 
of financial position and the statement of the changes in equity of the Company as at 31 December 2022 were audited 
by another independent auditor who expressed a qualified opinion on those financial statements on 12 April 2023 as 
detailed in Note 41 to the financial statements.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS (I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or 
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation 
of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

(f) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats on safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lee Eng Kian.

PKF-CAP LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore

28 March 2024
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2023 2022

Note
Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations Total

Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 4 31,405 – 31,405 29,883 8,740 38,623
Cost of sales (18,865) – (18,865) (16,071) (8,897) (24,968)

Gross profit/(loss) 12,540 – 12,540 13,812 (157) 13,655
Other operating income 5a 16,833 – 16,833 4,259 2,694 6,953
Gain arising from debt 

restructuring 5b – – – 343,151 17,243 360,394
General and administrative 

expenses (12,444) – (12,444) (13,259) (1,432) (14,691)
Other operating expenses (793) – (793) (9,490) (13,511) (23,001)
Finance costs 6 (995) – (995) (2,917) (4,085) (7,002)
Share of results of joint 

ventures 325 325 87 1,509 1,596
Share of results of 

associates – – – – 4,603 4,603

Profit before taxation 7 15,466 – 15,466 335,643 6,864 342,507
Taxation 8 (950) – (950) 647 (251) 396

Profit for the year 14,516 – 14,516 336,290 6,613 342,903

Profit/(loss) for the year 
attributable to:

Equity holders of the 
Company 14,524 – 14,524 324,507 6,683 331,190

Non-controlling interests (8) – (8) 11,783 (70) 11,713

14,516 – 14,516 336,290 6,613 342,903

Earnings per share 
attributable to equity 
holders of the Company 
(US cents per share)

Basic 10 3.2 – 3.2 163.7 3.4 167.1

Diluted 10 2.9 – 2.9 163.7 3.4 167.1

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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2023 2022
Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations Total

Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Profit for the year 14,516 – 14,516 336,290 6,613 342,903

Other comprehensive 
income:

Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

– Foreign currency translation (542) – (542) (129) – (129)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year,  
net of tax (542) – (542) (129) – (129)

Total comprehensive  
income for the year 13,974 – 13,974 336,161 6,613 342,774

Total comprehensive  
income for the year 
attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 13,982 – 13,982 324,378 6,683 331,061
Non-controlling interests (8) – (8) 11,783 (70) 11,713

13,974 – 13,974 336,161 6,613 342,774

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 46,219 40,629 – –
Investment in subsidiaries 12 – – 100 –
Investment in associates 13 – – – –
Investment in joint ventures 14 1,612 1,287 – –
Investment securities 19 – – – –
Club memberships 140 140 – –
Amounts due from related companies 15 408 408 – –

48,379 42,464 100 –
Current assets
Inventories 16 117 160 – –
Trade receivables 17 6,714 14,571 – –
Other receivables 18 8,799 7,572 59 136
Amounts due from related companies 15 17,395 20,156 24,258 20,082
Investment securities 19 45 23 – –
Cash and bank balances 20 26,676 25,596 3,030 2,545

59,746 68,078 27,347 22,763
Total assets 108,125 110,542 27,447 22,763

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 21 3,074 12,091 – –
Other liabilities 22 14,390 15,587 118 180
Amounts due to related companies 24 5,306 11,801 316 308
Bank loans 25 2,021 – – –
Provision for taxation 2,007 1,108 36 –
Lease liabilities 26 1,046 1,012 – –

27,844 41,599 470 488
Net current assets 31,902 26,479 26,877 22,275

Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities 22 3,817 3,817 – –
Provisions 23 256 252 – –
Bank loans 25 28,298 29,839 – –
Lease liabilities 26 6,920 7,155 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 27 2,474 2,474 – –
Derivative warrant liabilities 28 68 184 68 184
Perpetual securities 29 744 1,492 744 1,492

42,577 45,213 812 1,676
Total liabilities 70,421 86,812 1,282 2,164

Net assets 37,704 23,730 26,165 20,599

Equity attributable to equity holders of  
the Company

Share capital 30(a) 188,878 188,878 188,878 188,878
Treasury shares 30(b) (2,135) (2,135) (2,135) (2,135)
Accumulated losses (143,292) (154,473) (160,515) (166,081)
Other reserves 31 (5,582) (8,442) (63) (63)

37,869 23,828 26,165 20,599
Non-controlling interests (165) (98) – –
Total equity 37,704 23,730 26,165 20,599

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Group Note

Share

capital

Treasury

shares

Accumulated 

losses

Total 

other 

reserves

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Employee 

share-

based 

payments 

reserve

Hedging 

reserve

Defined 

benefit 

plan

Capital 

reserve Total

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 

2023 188,878 (2,135) (154,473) (8,442) (1,798) – – – (6,644) 23,828 (98) 23,730

Profit for the year – – 14,524 – – – – – – 14,524 (8) 14,516

Other comprehensive 

income

– Foreign  

exchange 

translation 31(a) – – – (542) (542) – – – – (542) – (542)

Total comprehensive 

income for the year – – 14,524 (542) (542) – – – – 13,982 (8) 13,974

Transfers within 

equity 31 – – (3,343) 3,402 – – – – 3,402 59 (59) –

Balance at 31 

December 2023 188,878 (2,135) (143,292) (5,582) (2,340) – – – (3,242) 37,869 (165) 37,704

Balance at 1 January 

2022 162,854 (2,135) (485,863) (8,113) (1,669) 170 114 86 (6,814) (333,257) (11,811) (345,068)

Profit for the year – – 331,190 – – – – – – 331,190 11,713 342,903

Other comprehensive 

income

– Foreign  

exchange 

translation 31(a) – – – (129) (129) – – – – (129) – (129)

Total comprehensive 

income for the year – – 331,190 (129) (129) – – – – 331,061 11,713 342,774

Shares issued due to 

restructuring 30(a) 26,024 – – – – – – – – 26,024 – 26,024

Transfers within 

equity 31 – – 200 (200) – (170) (114) (86) 170 – – –

Balance at 31 

December 2022 188,878 (2,135) (154,473) (8,442) (1,798) – – – (6,644) 23,828 (98) 23,730

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Company
Share

capital
Treasury 

shares
Accumulated 

losses

Total 
other 

reserves

Employee 
share-based 

payments 
reserve

Capital
reserve

Total
equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2023 188,878 (2,135) (166,081) (63) – (63) 20,599

Profit for the year – – 5,566 – – – 5,566
Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – 5,566 – – – 5,566

Balance at 31 December 
2023 188,878 (2,135) (160,515) (63) – (63) 26,165

Balance at 1 January 2022 162,854 (2,135) (417,049) (63) 170 (233) (256,393)

Profit for the year – – 250,968 – – – 250,968
Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – 250,968 – – – 250,968
Shares issued due to 

restructuring (Note 30(a)) 26,024 – – – – – 26,024
Transfers within equity  

(Note 31) – – – – (170) 170 –

Balance at 31 December 
2022 188,878 (2,135) (166,081) (63) – (63) 20,599

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before taxation 15,466 342,507
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 3,241 3,015
Derecognition of financial guarantee liabilities – (2,977)
Finance costs 6 995 7,002
Interest income (288) (56)
Share of results of joint ventures (325) (1,596)
Share of results of associates – (4,603)
(Write-back)/Impairment of doubtful receivables, net 17 (7,132) 4,465
(Write-back)/Impairment of amounts due from related companies 15 (1,887) 17,991
(Write-back)/Impairment of property, plant and equipment 11 (3,504) 1,456
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 83 –
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale 9 – (17,022)
Net gain on debt forgiveness 5(b) – (290,791)
Net gain on debt restructuring from settlement of liabilities through 

share issuance 5(b) – (52,360)
Net fair value gain on held for trading investment securities 7 (22) (14)
Deferred gain for non-refundable deposit upon vessel sale – (800)
Net fair value (gain)/loss on derivatives 7 (116) 184
Exchange differences 416 1,208

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 6,927 7,609
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 14,989 (1,775)
Increase in amounts due from related companies, net (3,103) (6,788)
Decrease in inventories 43 384
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables and other liabilities (9,876) 3,352

Cash generated from operations 8,980 2,782
Taxes paid (83) (599)
Interest paid (293) (294)
Interest received 317 –

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 8,921 1,889

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (4,830) (1,400)
Loans repaid by joint ventures, net – 5,000
Investment in joint venture – (1,200)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities (4,830) 2,400

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 26 (383) (338)
Cash and bank balances released as securities – 2
Proceeds from issuance of new shares – 723
Partial redemption of perpetual securities 29 (748) (709)
Restricted cash and bank balance (2,021) (1,989)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (3,152) (2,311)

Net increase in cash and bank balances 939 1,978
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and bank balances 109 40
Cash and bank balances at 1 January 23,607 21,589

Cash and bank balances at 31 December 20 24,655 23,607

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Pacific Radiance Ltd. (“PRL” or the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in 
Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 15 Pandan Road, Singapore 
609263.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements.

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (International) (“SFRS (I)”). The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD or US$). All financial information 
presented in United States Dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand (US$’000), unless otherwise 
indicated.

The Group completed its debt restructuring in September 2022. The debt restructuring included, amongst 
others, (i) a consensual sale agreement with the secured lenders of the Group (the “Consensual Sale 
Agreement”) for the sale of 33 vessels (the “Sale Vessels”) to the ENAV Radiance Group (the “Purchaser”) in 
consideration for the discharge of the secured indebtedness owed by the Group (the “Disposal”), and (ii) the 
court-sanctioned schemes of arrangement of the Company’s two subsidiaries, Pacific Crest Pte. Ltd. (“PCPL”) 
and Sea Radiance Pte Ltd (formerly known as “CSI Offshore Pte. Ltd.” (“CSIO”) for the unsecured indebtedness 
owed by the Group (the “Schemes of Arrangement”) (hereinafter refer to as the “Debt Restructuring Plan”). 
More details on the Debt Restructuring Plan were disclosed in prior year financial statements.

2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current 
financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The adoption of these standards did not have any material effect 
on the financial statements of the Group and the Company.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standard that have been issued are not yet effective and have 
not been applied in preparing these financial statements.

Description
Effective for annual  

periods beginning on

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:  
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2024

Amendments to FRS 116 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:  

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
1 January 2024

Amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and FRS 107 Financial  
Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements

1 January 2024

Amendments to FRS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates:  
Lack of Exchangeability

1 January 2025

The directors expect that the adoption of these new and amended standards above will have no material impact 
on the financial statements in the year of initial application.

2.4 Group Accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

(i) Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment indicator of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of operations and 
its net assets, which is attributable to the interests that are not owned directly or indirectly by 
the equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and balance sheet. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a 
subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.4 Group Accounting (Cont’d)

(a) Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(ii) Acquisitions

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations entered into 
by the Group.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair 
value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred also includes any contingent consideration arrangement and 
any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
the (b) fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

(iii) Disposals

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if required by a specific 
SFRS (I).

Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference 
between the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company.
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2.4 Group Accounting (Cont’d)

(c) Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally 
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above.

Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control as a result of contractual 
arrangements, and rights to the net assets of the entities.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any.

(i) Acquisitions

Investments in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition. Goodwill on associates and joint ventures represents the excess of the cost of 
acquisition of the associates or joint ventures over the Group’s share of the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets of the associates or joint ventures and is included in the carrying amount 
of the investments.

(ii) Equity method of accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise Group’s share of its associates’ or joint ventures’ 
post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss and its share of movements in 
other comprehensive income of the investee’s other comprehensive income. Dividends received 
or receivable from the associates or joint ventures are recognised as a reduction of the carrying 
amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associates or joint venture 
equals to or exceeds its interest in the associates or joint venture, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has legal or constructive obligations to make, or has made, payments on 
behalf of the associates or joint venture. If the associates or joint venture subsequently reports 
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits 
equals the share of losses not recognised. Interest in an associates or joint venture includes 
any long-term loans for which settlement is never planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates or joint ventures. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets 
transferred. The accounting policies of associates or joint ventures are changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

(iii) Disposals

Investments in associates or joint ventures are derecognised when the Group loses significant 
influence or joint control. If the retained equity interest in the former associates or joint venture 
is a financial asset, the retained equity interest is measured at fair value. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when significant influence or joint control 
is lost, and its fair value and any proceeds on partial disposal, is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5 Currency translations

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD” or “US$”), which is the functional currency of 
the Company.

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency exchange 
differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet 
date are recognised in profit or loss. Monetary items include primarily financial assets (other than 
equity investments), contract assets and financial liabilities. However, in the consolidated financial 
statements, currency translation differences arising from borrowings in foreign currencies and other 
currency instruments designated and qualifying as net investment hedges and net investment in foreign 
operations, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency translation 
reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of or any loan forming part of the net investment of the foreign 
operation is repaid, a proportionate share of the accumulated currency translation differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented in the income statement within 
“other operating income or other operating expenses”.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair values are determined.

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date;

(ii) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the currency translation reserve. These currency translation differences are 
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal with loss of control of the foreign 
operation.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rates at the reporting date.
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2.6 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, 
plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

The cost of property and buildings includes provision for reinstatement costs as stated in Note 2.17.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

– Vessels: 20 or 25 years

– Drydocking expenditure: 5 years

– Plant and equipment: 3 to 5 years

– Property and buildings: 20 years and over the remaining life of the leases

– Land-use rights: over the remaining life of the leases

Assets under construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

The Group periodically drydocks each owned vessels for inspection, repairs and maintenance and any 
modifications to comply with industry certification or governmental requirements. Generally, each vessel is 
drydocked every 5 years. A substantial portion of the costs incurred during drydocking is capitalised and these 
costs are amortised on a straight-line basis from the completion of a drydock to the estimated completion of 
the next drydocking. Costs for routine repairs and maintenance performed during drydocking that do not improve 
or extend the useful lives of the vessels are immediately expensed off. The number of drydockings undertaken 
in a given period and the nature of the work performed determine the level of drydocking expenditures.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss 
in the year the asset is derecognised.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use and no further 
charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.
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2.7 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

(a) Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities representing the obligations 
to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying leased 
assets.

(i) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date 
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, 
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful 
life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in Note 
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets.

The Group’s right-of-use assets are presented within property, plant and equipment (Note 11).

(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid 
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are 
incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not 
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased 
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the 
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease 
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change 
in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an 
option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2.7 Leases (Cont’d)

(a) Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b) Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising from operating leases on 
the Group’s investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent 
rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.8 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and 
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period 
and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted 
for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, 
or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of 
an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the useful life 
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset 
is derecognised.

PACIFIC RADIANCE
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

60

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.8 Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Club memberships

Club memberships were acquired separately and have indefinite useful lives. These club memberships are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate 
of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an assets or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

2.10 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
impairment losses.

2.11 Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties have joint control. Joint control 
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

A joint arrangement is classified either as joint operation or joint venture, based on the rights and obligations of 
the parties to the arrangement.

To the extent the joint arrangement provides the Group with rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement, the arrangement is a joint operation. The Group has not classified any 
joint arrangement as joint operation during the financial year. To the extent the joint arrangement provides the 
Group with rights to the net assets of the arrangement, the arrangement is a joint venture.

Joint ventures

The Group recognises its interest in a joint venture as an investment and accounts for the investment using the 
equity method. The accounting policy for investment in joint ventures is set out in Note 2.12.
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2.12 Joint ventures and associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies.

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and joint ventures using the equity method from the date 
on which it becomes an associate or joint venture.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill and is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable 
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity’s 
share of the associate or joint venture’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the investments in associates or joint ventures are carried in the balance sheet at cost 
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates or joint ventures. The profit 
or loss reflects the share of results of the operations of the associates or joint ventures. Distributions received 
from joint ventures or associates reduce the carrying amount of the investments. Where there has been a 
change recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates or joint venture, the Group recognises its 
share of such changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates 
or joint ventures.

When the Group’s share of losses in the associate or joint venture equals or exceeds the carrying amount of the 
investment, together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, the Group discontinues recognising 
its share of further losses.

After the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, 
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate or joint venture. If the associate or joint venture subsequently reports profits, the Group 
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not 
recognised.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional 
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associate or joint ventures. The Group determines at the end 
of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint 
venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the 
amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as at the same reporting date as 
the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group.
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2.13 Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

(i) Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case 
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried 
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant 
financing component at initial recognition.

(ii) Subsequent measurement

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The measurement 
categories for classification of debt instruments are amortised cost and fair value through profit 
or loss.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial 
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, 
and through amortisation process.

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on debt instruments 
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging 
relationship is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

(iii) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the 
asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in profit 
or loss.
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2.13 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(b) Financial liabilities

(i) Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instruments. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

(ii) Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
amortisation process.

(iii) Derecognition

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expired. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows 
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that 
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment which could affect debtor’s ability to pay.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 270 days past due. However, 
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.15 Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at banks and on hand, short-term bank deposits and cash in holding 
accounts that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash pledged is excluded from cash and cash 
equivalents.

2.16 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes costs of purchases and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Costs include all direct 
materials, labour costs and those indirect costs incurred in connection with projects on a first-in first-out 
basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying 
value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Work-in-progress is recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Finished goods include bunker and spare parts for shipyard repair jobs.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Provision for reinstatement costs

The Group recognised a provision for reinstatement cost when there is obligation to restore the property, 
plant and equipment to its original condition upon termination of the contract leases. The reinstatement 
cost is estimated when modifications are performed on the properties, based on quotations from contractors 
and management’s experience. The provision for reinstatement cost is reviewed annually and adjusted as 
appropriate. The estimated reinstatement cost is included as part of cost of property, plant and equipment as 
stated in Note 2.6.

2.18 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with.

Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods 
that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. Where the grant relates to an 
asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred income on the statement of financial position over the expected 
useful life of the relevant asset.
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2.19 Financial guarantee

A financial guarantee is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original 
or modified terms of a debt instrument. Where the financial guarantee is given with respect to a banking 
facility, that facility must be drawn down before the definition of financial guarantee is met as a debt (or 
debtor) only comes into existence upon draw-down.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees 
are measured at the higher of the amount of expected credit allowance determined in accordance with the 
policy set out in Note 2.13 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount 
of income recognised in accordance with the principles of SFRS (I) 15.

2.20 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing 
costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist 
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.21 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which 
it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central 
Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined 
contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is 
performed.

(b) Defined benefit plans

The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted 
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present 
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined separately for each plan 
using the projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

– Service cost

– Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset

– Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

PACIFIC RADIANCE
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

66

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.21 Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(b) Defined benefit plans (Cont’d)

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognised as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognised when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined 
benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the 
discount rate based on high quality government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognised as expense or income in profit or loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognised immediately 
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are recognised in 
retained earnings within equity and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance 
policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the 
Group. Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. When no market price is available, 
the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount 
rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal 
date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related 
obligations).

The Group’s right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit 
obligation is recognised as a separate asset at fair value when and only when reimbursement is virtually 
certain.

(c) Performance share plan

Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share awards as consideration for services 
rendered. The cost of these equity-settled share based payment transactions with employees is 
measured by reference to the fair value of the awards at the date on which the awards are granted 
which takes into account market conditions and non-vesting conditions. This cost is recognised in profit 
or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share-based payment reserve, over the vesting 
period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of awards 
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in 
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in employee 
benefits expense.

The employee share-based payment reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon expiry of the share 
plan.

(d) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to the 
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.22 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as assets held-for-sale and carried at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The assets are not depreciated or amortised while they 
are classified as held-for-sale. Equity accounting ceased when the investment in associates and joint ventures 
are classified as held for sale. Any impairment loss on initial classification and subsequent measurement 
is recognised as an expense. Any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell (not exceeding the 
accumulated impairment loss that has been previously recognised) is recognised in profit or loss.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or that is classified as 
held-for-sale and:

(a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

(b) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations; or

(c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Additional disclosures are provided in Note 9. All other notes to the financial statements include amounts for 
continuing operations, unless indicated otherwise.

2.23 Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount 
allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

Revenue from bareboat and time chartering activities is recognised in profit or loss based on the duration of the 
contracts. Ancillary time charter revenue is recognised over time on a straight-line basis based on the number 
of days of the charter period, and the corresponding costs are charged to profit or loss using the same basis.

Revenue from ship repair works is recognised at a point in time when the repair works are completed and 
accepted by customers.

Management fees and ship management fee income are recognised over time when the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised over time using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised at a point in time when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.24 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

– Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

– In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets shall be recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be 
utilised, unless:

– Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, and at the 
time of transaction, does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

– In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end 
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.24 Taxes (Cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

– Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

– Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.25 Share capital

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.26 Treasury shares

When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (“treasury shares”), the carrying 
amount which includes the consideration paid and any directly attributable transaction cost is presented as a 
component within equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the share 
capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained profits of the 
Company if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company.

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to an employee share option scheme, the cost 
of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, 
net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in the 
capital reserve.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2.27 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation; or

(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be 
reliably determined.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates 
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in the future periods.

Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the judgement that the use 
of going concern assumption is appropriate as further disclosed in Note 2.1. Management has also made the 
following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements:

(a) Functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, 
judgement is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and 
services and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices 
of its goods and services. The functional currencies of the entities in the Group are determined based on 
management’s assessment of the economic environment in which the entities operate and the entities’ 
process of determining sales prices.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

Judgements made in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

(b) Joint arrangements

The Group has interests in joint arrangements as listed in Note 14. The Group has joint control over 
these arrangements as under the contractual agreements, joint consent is required from all parties to 
the agreements for all relevant activities.

The Group’s joint arrangements are structured as limited companies and provide the parties to the 
agreements with rights to the net assets of the limited companies under the arrangements. Therefore, 
these arrangements are classified as joint ventures.

(c) Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in the respective jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant 
judgement is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions 
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course 
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax provisions in the period 
in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s tax payable and deferred 
tax liabilities as at 31 December 2023 were US$2,007,000 (2022: US$1,108,000) and US$2,474,000 
(2022: US$2,474,000) respectively.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters 
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the 
Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(a) Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables, amounts due from related companies and other 
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables, including trade amounts 
due from related companies. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various 
customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will 
calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every 
reporting date, historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and 
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the 
future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(a) Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables, amounts due from related companies and other 
receivables (Cont’d)

The Group uses the probability of default approach for non-trade amounts and loans due from related 
companies, including other receivables. To estimate the loss allowance for credit losses, the Group 
performs recoverability assessments to derive the difference between contractual cash flows due 
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, including 
cash flows from the sale of collateral that are integral to the contractual terms. The fair value of the 
collateral and forecast economic conditions in the recoverability assessment is a significant estimate 
where changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables, amounts due from related companies 
and other receivables are disclosed in Note 36(a).

The carry ing amount of  t rade rece ivables as at  31 December 2023 are US$6,714,000 
(2022: US$14,571,000). The carrying values for amounts due from related companies and other 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 15 and Note 18 respectively.

4. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue

Segments
Ship 

Management Shipyard

Total for 
Continuing 
Operations

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Type of services
Lease revenue 6,092 – 6,092
Other ancillary time charter revenue 5,256 – 5,256
Ship repair income – 13,852 13,852
Ship management fee income 6,172 – 6,172
Others – 33 33

17,520 13,885 31,405

Timing of transfer of services
At a point in time – 13,885 13,885
Over time 17,520 – 17,520

17,520 13,885 31,405

2022
Type of services
Lease revenue 3,014 – 3,014
Other ancillary time charter revenue 6,968 – 6,968
Ship repair income – 14,582 14,582
Ship management fee income 5,282 – 5,282
Others – 37 37

15,264 14,619 29,883

Timing of transfer of services
At a point in time – 14,619 14,619
Over time 15,264 – 15,264

15,264 14,619 29,883
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4. REVENUE (CONT’D)

Disaggregation of revenue (Cont’d)

The Group accounts for the lease of vessels for bareboat charter and time charter under SFRS (I) 16 Leases as 
lease revenue. Time charter comprises lease of vessels and provision of other ancillary services. Other ancillary 
services include provision of crew and other services under the time charter contracts. The Group separates 
the lease and non-lease components of time charter by allocating the transaction price based on their relative 
stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices are determined based on market assessment approach 
where management estimates the market rate for the leases of vessels and services taking into consideration 
the Group’s business pricing strategies and practices. Both lease and other ancillary time charter revenue are 
recognised over the same duration of the charter period.

Refer to Note 39 for revenue disclosure by operating business segments and geographical location.

5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND GAIN ARISING FROM DEBT RESTRUCTURING

(a) Other operating income

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income from banks 277 53
Management fee income 177 332
Government grants 53 27
Net fair value gain on held for trading investment securities 22 14
Foreign exchange gain, net 628 2,679
Write-back of doubtful receivables, net 7,132 –
Write-back of amounts due from related companies, net 2,944 –
Write-back of property, plant and equipment 3,504 –
Deferred gain for non-refundable deposit upon vessel sale – 800
Reimbursement of expenses from a related party 930 –
Sundry income 1,166 354

16,833 4,259

(b) Gain arising from debt restructuring

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Gain on debt forgiveness of bank loan (Note 25) – 269,126
Gain on debt forgiveness of trade payables – 1,527
Gain on debt forgiveness of non-controlling shareholder loan – 20,138
Net gain on restructuring from settlement of liabilities through share 
issuance (Note 30) – 52,360

– 343,151

In 2022, gain on debt forgiveness of bank loans relates to principal amount of bank loan forgiven of 
US$209,198,000 and accrued interest forgiven of US$59,928,000.
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5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND GAIN ARISING FROM DEBT RESTRUCTURING (CONT’D)

(b) Gain arising from debt restructuring (Cont’d)

Gain on debt forgiveness of trade payables relates to the portion of trade payables that was waived, 
released and discharged under the Schemes of Arrangement of PCPL and CSIO that were sanctioned by 
the High Court of Singapore on 11 August 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, gain on debt forgiveness of non-controlling shareholder loan 
relates to principal amount of loan of US$17,150,500 and accrued interest of US$2,987,213 forgiven by 
shareholder of subsidiary Radiance ZJ Pte Ltd.

6. FINANCE COSTS

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Interest expense on:
– Bank loans carried at amortised cost 596 2,369
– Lease liabilities (Note 34(a)) 361 362
– Perpetual securities 38 9
Interest expense on borrowings from a shareholder of a subsidiary carried at 

amortised cost – 175

995 2,915
Discount rate adjustment for provisions (Note 23) – 2

995 2,917

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation for continuing operations is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees:
– Auditors of the Company 99 102
– Other auditors 19 –
Non audit fees:
– Auditors of the Company 33 24
– Other auditors 44 34
Legal and professional fees 877 2,951
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales (Note 16) 989 5
Employee benefits expense (Note 32) 7,542 7,421
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 3,241 3,015
(Write-back)/Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) (3,504) 1,456
(Write-back)/Impairment of doubtful trade receivables, net (7,132) 4,329
(Write-back)/Impairment of amount due from related companies, net (2,944) 3,526
Foreign exchange gain, net (628) (2,679)
Net fair value gain on held for trading investment securities (22) (14)
Net fair value (gain)/loss on derivative (116) 178
Lease expenses (Note 34(a)) 5,600 5,366

Including discontinued operations, total audit fees paid to auditors of the Company for the financial year is 
US$99,000 (2022: US$163,000). Total non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company for the financial year is 
US$33,000 (2022: US$55,000).
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8. TAXATION

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were:

2023 2022
Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations Total

Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued 
Operations Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Consolidated income 
statements:

Current income tax
– Current year’s income 

taxation (1,984) – (1,984) (23) (4) (27)
– Overprovision in respect 

of prior years, net 1,080 – 1,080 44 – 44

(904) – (904) 21 (4) 17
Deferred income tax  

(Note 27)
– Reversal of temporary 

differences – – – 171 – 171
Withholding tax (46) – (46) 455 (247) 208

Tax expense recognised 
in consolidated income 
statement (950) – (950) 647 (251) 396

The reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profit before taxation multiplied by 
the applicable tax rate for the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Profit before taxation for continuing operations 15,466 335,643
Profit before taxation for discontinued operations – 6,864

Profit before taxation 15,466 342,507
Less: Share of results of joint ventures (325) (1,596)
Less: Share of results of associates – (4,603)

Profit before tax and share of results of associates and joint ventures 15,141 336,308

Tax expense at Singapore statutory rate of 17% (2022: 17%) 2,574 57,172
Adjustments:
Income not assessable for tax purposes (900) (58,102)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 106 4,758
Overprovision in respect of prior years, net (1,080) (44)
Effect of partial tax exemption and tax relief (130) (16)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 334 966
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses – (1,509)
Net tax exempt (profit)/loss under Section 13A or 13E of the Singapore Income  

Tax Act and rebate available – (3,413)
Withholding tax 46 (208)

Tax expense/(credit) recognised in consolidated income statement 950 (396)

Tax expense/(credit) attributable to continuing operations 950 (647)
Tax expense attributable to discontinued operations – 251

950 (396)
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Disposal which forms part of the Debt Restructuring Plan involved the sale of 33 Sale Vessels, of which 
28 Sale Vessels were owned by the Group’s subsidiaries and 5 Sale Vessels were owned by the joint venture 
and associate companies. The 28 Sale Vessels were classified as assets held for sale as at 26 October 2021, 
and the entire results from the disposal group was presented separately on the consolidated income statement 
as a discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2021. The disposal group was previously presented 
under the Offshore Support Services and Subsea Services operating segments.

The net cash flows incurred by the disposal group are as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Operating – 643
Investing – –
Financing – 2

Net cash inflow/(outflow) – 645

On 25 February 2022 and 1 March 2022, the Group transferred and delivered the Sale Vessels to the Purchaser 
and its related companies. A gain on sale of vessels of US$17,022,000 was recognised on the carrying amount 
and included in other operating income. The financial effect of the sale of vessels to the associates and joint 
ventures are disclosed in Note 13 and 14 respectively.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net of tax profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary 
shares into ordinary shares.

The following tables reflect the income and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings 
per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 14,524 331,190

No. of 
shares

No. of 
shares

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculation:
– Applicable to basic earnings per share 450,709 198,278
– On a fully diluted basis 496,197 198,278

The weighted average number of shares takes into account the weighted average effect of changes in treasury 
shares transactions during the year.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Company have not acquired any ordinary shares in the 
Company through purchases on the Singapore Exchange. There have been no other transactions involving 
ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the completion of these financial statements.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Vessels
Drydocking 
expenditure

Plant and 
equipment

Property and 
buildings

Land-use 
rights Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2022 919 – 10,169 61,232 8,700 81,020
Additions 550 – 300 – 146 996
Disposals – – (12) – – (12)
Transfer from assets  

held for sale 4,223 – – – – 4,223
Translation differences – – 47 413 65 525

At 31 December 2022  
and 1 January 2023 5,692 – 10,504 61,645 8,911 86,752

Additions 4,202 – 559 18 51 4,830
Disposals – – (427) – – (427)
Translation differences – – 100 994 144 1,238

At 31 December 2023 9,894 – 10,736 62,657 9,106 92,393

Vessels
Drydocking 
expenditure

Plant and 
equipment

Property and 
buildings

Land-use 
rights Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
Accumulated 

depreciation and 
impairment loss:

At 1 January 2022 282 – 6,817 29,172 1,369 37,640
Depreciation charge for  

the financial year(1) 102 – 523 1,938 452 3,015
Impairment loss – – – 1,456 – 1,456
Disposals – – (12) – – (12)
Transfer from asset  

held for sale 3,673 – – – – 3,673
Translation differences – – 31 298 22 351

At 31 December 2022  
and 1 January 2023 4,057 – 7,359 32,864 1,843 46,123

Depreciation charge for  
the financial year(1) 194 – 656 1,918 473 3,241

Disposals – – (344) – – (344)
Write-back of impairment (3,504) – – – – (3,504)
Translation differences – – 48 571 39 658

At 31 December 2023 747 – 7,719 35,353 2,355 46,174

Net carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2022 1,635 – 3,145 28,781 7,068 40,629

At 31 December 2023 9,147 – 3,017 27,304 6,751 46,219

(1) Depreciation charge for the financial year arising from continuing operations are US$3,241,000 (2022: US$3,015,000).
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Right-of-use assets acquired under leasing arrangements are presented together with the owned assets of the 
same class. Details of such leased assets are disclosed in Note 34.

During the year, there was an increase in land-use rights of US$51,000 (2022: US$146,000) due to the increase 
in lease payments under certain leasing arrangements.

Amount under plant and equipment included certain equipment with carrying amount of US$337,000 
(2022: US$475,000) that is under finance lease arrangement.

The cash outflow on acquisition of property, plant and equipment in 2023 amounted to US$4,830,000 
(2022: US$1,400,000).

Assets pledged as security

At the balance sheet date, property and buildings, and plant and equipment with a carrying amount of 
US$29,812,000 (2022: US$31,680,000) were mortgaged to a bank as collateral to secure the Group’s bank loan 
(Note 25).

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

The Group has capitalised borrowing costs arising from bank loans and notes payable raised specifically for the 
purpose of construction of vessels and property and buildings.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, no borrowing costs was capitalised as cost of construction of 
vessels and property and buildings.

Impairment of assets

The Group has carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment mainly based 
on valuation reports issued by independent professional valuers for continuing operations. The recoverable 
amount of the property, plant and equipment was based on its fair value less costs to dispose. An impairment 
loss of US$Nil (2022: US$1,456,000), representing the write-down of the property, plant and equipment to the 
recoverable amount was included in other operating expenses. Impairment loss for the financial year arising 
from continuing operations was US$Nil (2022: US$1,456,000). For financial year 31 December 2023, due to 
improved market conditions, prior years’ impairment of vessel amounting to US$3,504,000 was reversed and 
recognised under other operating income.

12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 51,447 51,447
Performance share awards granted to employees of subsidiaries 163 163
Addition 100 –
Impairment losses (51,610) (51,610)

100 –
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12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

(a) Composition of the Group

The Group has the following investment in subsidiaries.

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation
and place of 

business Principal activities
Percentage of equity  

held by the Group
2023 2022

% %

Held by the Company
Pacific Crest Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Ship chartering and ship 

owning
100 100

Strato Maritime Services  
Pte Ltd(1)

Singapore Ship chartering and ship 
agency

100 100

Alstonia Offshore Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Ship agent and related 
business

100 100

Crest Subsea International  
Pte Ltd(1)

Singapore Integrated subsea solutions 100 100

Crest Offshore Marine Pte Ltd(7) Singapore Investment holding 100 100

CrestSA Marine & Offshore  
Pte Ltd(1)

Singapore Repair of offshore vessels 
and other ocean-going 
vessels

100 100

Sea Radiance Pte Ltd (formerly 
known as “CSI Offshore  
Pte Ltd”)(1)

Singapore Ship chartering, ship owning 
and ship management 
services

100 –

Held through Alstonia Offshore Pte Ltd

Pacific Offshore Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Ship owning, ship chartering 
and ship management

100 100

Envestra Investments Limited(5) British Virgin 
Islands

Investment holding – 100

Pacific Crest (Brunei) Sdn Bhd(2) Brunei Marketing office 90 90

Radiance Offshore Holdings  
Pte Ltd(1)

Singapore Investment holding 100 100

Continental Radiance Offshore 
Pvt Ltd(3)

India Ship chartering and ship 
owning

100 100
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12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

(a) Composition of the Group (Cont’d)

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation
and place of 

business Principal activities
Percentage of equity  

held by the Group
2023 2022

% %

Held through Crest Offshore Marine Pte Ltd

Radiance ZJ Pte Ltd(3)(7) Singapore Ship chartering and ship 
owning

63 63

Pacific Offshore Marine  
Pte Ltd(3)(7)

Singapore Ship chartering and ship 
owning

100 100

Held through Crest Subsea International Pte Ltd

Sea Radiance Pte Ltd (formerly 
known as “CSI Offshore Pte 
Ltd”)(1)

Singapore Ship chartering, ship owning 
and ship management 
services

– 100

Offshore Subsea Services (Asia 
Pacific) Pte Ltd(6)

Singapore Offshore subsea intervention 
for oil and gas industry

– 100

Berjaya Offshore (Labuan) Ltd(6) Malaysia Ship chartering and ship 
owning

– 100

PT Cahaya Offshore  
Indonesia(3)(7)(8)

Indonesia Dormant 49 49

Held through Offshore Subsea Services (Asia Pacific) Pte Ltd

PT Subsea Offshore(6) Indonesia Offshore subsea intervention 
for oil and gas industry

– 99.8

Held indirectly through Crest Subsea International Pte Ltd

PT Marine Engineering 
Services(3)(7)

Indonesia Offshore subsea intervention 
for oil and gas industry

99.5 99.5

(1) Audited by PKF-CAP LLP, Singapore (2022: Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore).

(2) Audited by member firms of PKF International in the respective countries. (2022: EY Global).

(3) Not significant to Group and not required to be disclosed under SGX Listing Rule 717.

(4) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.

(5) Liquidated during the financial year.

(6) Struck off during the financial year.

(7) In process of members’ voluntary liquidation.

(8) On 14 July 2015, the Group’s subsidiary company, Crest Subsea International Pte Ltd (“CSI”) incorporated a company, PT 
Cahaya Offshore Indonesia (“PT Cahaya”), in Indonesia, and subscribed for 4,900 Series A shares, representing the entire 
voting shares and 49% of the total issued shares of PT Cahaya. Since the Group has control over PT Cahaya through its entire 
voting shares, PT Cahaya is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.
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12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

(a) Composition of the Group (Cont’d)

According to Law No. 40 Year 2007 on Limited Liability Companies in Indonesia, Indonesian companies 
are required to allocate a certain amount from its net profit in each financial year as a reserve fund. The 
reserve fund should be provided until it reaches at least 20% of the issued and paid-up capital of the 
company. Dividend distribution by the company is based on its net profit after deducting the allocation 
for the reserve fund.

As the Group’s Indonesian subsidiaries were not in retained profit positions as at 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022, no reserve fund was allocated.

Other than the above, there are no significant restrictions on the Group’s ability to use or access assets 
and settle liabilities of subsidiaries.

Transactions with non-controlling interests have been disclosed in Note 33(a).

(b) Interest in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group has no subsidiaries that have non-controlling 
interest that are material to the Group.

13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The Group’s carrying amount of investment in associates is summarised below:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

PT Jawa Tirtamarin – –
PT Logindo Samudramakmur Tbk 14,778 14,778

14,778 14,778
Less: Allowance for impairment (14,778) (14,778)

– –

Fair value of investment in PT Logindo Samudramakmur Tbk for which  
there is a published price quotation(1) 5,292 5,804

(1) The fair value has not considered the liquidity for disposal of the entire shareholding.
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13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONT’D)

The associates of the Group as at 31 December were as follows:

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities
Percentage of equity 

held by the Group
2023 2022

% %

Held through subsidiaries
PT Jawa Tirtamarin (“PT Jawa”)(1) Indonesia Ship owning, ship chartering 

and ship brokering
49 49

PT Logindo Samudramakmur Tbk  
(“PT Logindo”)(2)

Indonesia Ship owning and ship 
chartering

32.4 32.4

(1) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.

(2) Audited by a member firm of EY Global.

As at 31 December 2022, deferred gain of US$4,603,000 was realised and recognised as realisation of deferred 
gain on sale of vessels to associates (Note 22).

The Group has not recognised losses relating to associates where its share of losses exceeded the Group’s 
interest in the associates. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the end of the current 
financial year was US$41,229,000 (2022: US$43,183,000) of which US$2,018,000 (2022: US$10,204,000) 
was the share of the current year’s losses, including the financial effects of the vessel sale. The Group has no 
obligation in respect of these losses.

The associates are not considered material to the reporting entity. The summarised financial information 
in respect of PT Jawa and PT Logindo based on its IFRS financial statements and a reconciliation with the 
carrying amount of the investment in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Summarised statement of financial position

PT Jawa PT Logindo
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Net (liabilities)/assets (56,662) (60,644) 22,990 29,151
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 49% 49% 32.4% 32.4%

Group’s share of net (liabilities)/assets (27,764) (29,715) 7,449 9,445
Deferred group’s share of net losses 34,876 36,827 10,322 8,308
Deferred group’s share of movement in reserves – – 33 52
Elimination of gain on sale of vessels (3,968) (3,968) (3,104) (3,104)
Effects of change in functional currency (3,144) (3,144) – –
Allowance for impairment – – (14,778) (14,778)
Other adjustments – – 78 77

Carrying amount of the Group’s investment in 
associates – – – –
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13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONT’D)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

PT Jawa PT Logindo
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue – 379 32,772 29,500
Loss after tax (4) (22,245) (6,237) (5,988)
Other comprehensive income – – 14 (56)

Total comprehensive income (4) (22,245) (6,223) (6,044)

The associates are required by the Indonesia Law No. 40 Year 2007 to allocate a certain amount of its net 
profit in each financial year as a reserve fund. Please refer to Note 12(a) for further details. The reserve fund 
for PT Logindo as at 31 December 2023 was US$210,000 (2022: US$210,000).

No dividend was received from the associates during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022.

Consent is required by both shareholders for any dividend distribution proposed by PT Jawa.

14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

The Group’s carrying amount of investment in joint ventures is summarised below:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Alam Radiance (L) Inc
– Unquoted equity shares, at cost 5,865 5,865
Mainprize Asia Venture Pte Ltd
– Unquoted equity shares, at cost 1,200 1,200
– Share of post-acquisition profits, net of dividends 412 87
Other joint ventures –* –*

7,477 7,152
Less: Allowance for impairment (5,865) (5,865)

1,612 1,287

Movement in allowance account:
At 1 January/31 December 5,865 5,865

* Less than US$1,000
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14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities
Percentage of equity 

held by the Group
2023 2022

% %

Held through subsidiaries
Alam Radiance (M) Sdn Bhd(2) Malaysia Ship management and ship 

chartering
50 50

Alam Radiance (L) Inc(2)(4) Malaysia Ship owning and ship 
chartering

49 49

Duta Maritime Alliances Sdn Bhd(2)(4) Malaysia Ship owning and ship 
chartering

49 49

Duta Maritime Ventures Sdn Bhd(2)(4) Malaysia Ship owning and ship 
chartering

49 49

Aztec Offshore Holdings Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Ship owning and ship 
chartering

18.9 18.9

CR Offshore S.A.P.I de C.V.(3)(4) Mexico Ship management and ship 
chartering

49 49

CEIBA Maritima, SAPI de CV, SOFOM 
ENR(3)

Mexico Ship chartering and leasing 50 50

Allianz Radiance Pte Ltd(3) Singapore Ship owning and ship 
chartering

50 50

Navigatis Radiance Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Investment holding 50 50

Pacific Allianz Holdings Pte Ltd(3) Singapore Investment holding 52 52

Mainprize Asia Ventures Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Investment holding 49 49

Held through joint ventures

Aztec Offshore Holdings Pte Ltd(1)(5) Singapore Ship owning and ship 
chartering

40.6 40.6

Radiance Alliance Pte Ltd(1) Singapore Ship owning and ship 
chartering

50 50

AR Offshore Pte Ltd(3) Singapore Ship owning and ship 
chartering

52 52

Al Hail Marine Services LLC(3) United Arab 
Emirates Ship management

52 52
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14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

(1) Audited by PKF-CAP LLP, Singapore (2022: Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore).

(2) Not significant to Group and not required to be disclosed under SGX Listing Rule 717.

(3) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.

(4) Remains as a joint venture company of the Group as the entity remains jointly controlled as governed by the contractual arrangement 
between the shareholders where decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the shareholders.

(5) On 8 July 2020, the Group’s joint venture, Navigatis Radiance Pte Ltd (“NRPL”), acquired an additional 18.9% equity interest in Aztec 
Offshore Holdings Pte Ltd (“AOH”) at a purchase price of US$25,000 from another shareholder. Following the acquisition, AOH became 
a subsidiary of NRPL and the Group holds a total effective interests of 59.5%.

In 2022, included in the Group’s share of income after tax is a deferred gain of US$1,509,000 from realisation 
of deferred gain on sale of vessels to joint ventures (Note 22).

The Group has not recognised losses relating to joint ventures where its share of losses exceeds the Group’s 
interest in the joint ventures. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the end of the current 
financial year was US$70,544,000 (2022: US$84,294,000), of which US$13,758,000 (2022: US$2,187,000) was 
the share of the current period’s losses, including the financial effects of the vessel sale. The Group has no 
obligation in respect of these losses.

Cumulative share of 
unrecognised losses  

at end of
Share of profit/(loss)  

for the year ended
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Navigatis Radiance Pte Ltd Group (20,567) (25,299) 4,731 (2,439)
CR Offshore S.A.P.I. de C.V. (24,144) (23,227) (917) (3,332)
Duta Maritime Ventures Sdn Bhd (2,446) (6,170) 3,724 2,745
Duta Maritime Alliances Sdn Bhd (1,541) (8,638) 7,097 (730)
Alam Radiance (L) Inc (11,948) (11,601) (347) 1,250
Pacific Allianz Holdings Pte Ltd Group (2,704) (2,700) (4) 295
Aztec Offshore Holdings Pte Ltd (2,866) (2,672) (194) (34)
Other joint ventures (4,328) (3,987) (332) 58

(70,544) (84,294) 13,758 (2,187)

Aggregate information about the Group’s investments in joint ventures that are not individually material are as 
follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

The Group’s share of the joint ventures’
Income after tax 325 87
Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income 325 87

No dividend was received from joint ventures during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022.
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14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

In 2022, the Group invested in a joint venture, Mainprize Asia Venture Pte Ltd (“MAVPL”), which is incorporated 
in Singapore. Through its investments in Taiwan, MAVPL owns and operates vessels that provide support 
services to offshore wind farms in Taiwan.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures to transfer funds to the Group in the form of 
cash dividends, or to repay loans and advances.

15. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Amounts due from associates 51,906 62,968 – –
Amounts due from joint ventures 54,866 84,312 – –
Amounts due from related parties 1,661 4,388 – –
Amounts due from subsidiaries – – 32,380 29,289

108,433 151,668 32,380 29,289
Less: Allowance for impairment (90,630) (131,104) (8,122) (9,207)

17,803 20,564 24,258 20,082
Less: Current portion (17,395) (20,156) (24,258) (20,082)

Non-current portion 408 408 – –

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 131,104 114,931 9,207 360,614
(Write-back)/Charge for the year (2,944) 16,901 – –
Write-back of allowance – – (1,085) (69,587)
ECL adjustment to interest income 1,057 1,090 – –
Written off during the year (38,747) (1,850) – (278,775)
Exchange difference 160 32 – (3,045)

At 31 December 90,630 131,104 8,122 9,207

Amounts due from related companies comprised:
Trade 9,274 10,144 – –
Non-trade 1,140 5,726 4,971 794
Loans 7,389 4,694 19,287 19,288

17,803 20,564 24,258 20,082

Amounts due from related companies are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are to be settled in cash, except 
for loans to joint ventures and associates of US$20,988,780 (2022: US$21,760,000) which bear weighted 
average interest rate at 5.0% (2022: 5.0%) per annum. For non-trade amount due from joint ventures and 
associates of US$41,589,007 (2022: US$45,705,000) in relation to sale of vessels, the Group has the right to 
call for ownership and title to the vessels to be re-vested to the Group.

Amounts due from associates and joint ventures are repayable upon demand. Amounts due from related 
companies are classified as current assets if the Group expects to recover the amounts within one year.

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable upon demand and are to be 
settled in cash.
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15. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES (CONT’D)

Amounts due from associates and joint ventures are individually impaired at the end of the reporting period if 
any of the associate or joint venture is in financial difficulties and/or there are billings in dispute.

As at 31 December 2022, impairment loss for the Group arising from continuing operations and discontinued 
operations was US$3,526,000 and US$13,375,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2023, write-back of 
impairment for the Group from continuing operations of US$2,883,000 was due to certainty of recoverability as 
settlement agreement was entered into in October 2023 for repayment of the amount by related company.

Amounts due from related companies denominated in foreign currency at 31 December were as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Singapore Dollar – 240 – –

16. INVENTORIES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Statement of financial position:
Work-in-progress (at cost) 91 9
Finished goods (at cost or net realisable value) 26 151

117 160

Consolidated income statement:
The following is included in consolidated income statement for continuing 

operations:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales (Note 7) 989 5

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are unsecured, interest bearing and are generally due immediately or on 60-day term. They 
are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December were as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Singapore Dollar 3,309 153

Included in trade receivables was an amount of US$232,000 (2022: US$1,033,000) relating to unbilled trade 
receivables. Unbilled trade receivables relate to the Group’s right to consideration for charter hire earned but 
not yet billed at the reporting date as well as shipyard repair jobs done but not billed.
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

Significant changes in unbilled trade receivables are explained as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Unbilled trade receivables reclassified to trade receivables 1,033 692
Charter revenue/Repair income earned but not yet billed 176 1,033

Expected credit losses

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables computed based on lifetime ECL is 
as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 18,440 13,971
Charge for the year – 4,480
Write-back of allowance (7,132) (15)
Written off during the year (9,805) –
Exchange differences – 4

At 31 December 1,503 18,440

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Deposits 1,473 410 – 30
Prepayments 148 411 25 26
GST/VAT receivable 186 199 7 80
Recoverables from customers 6,296 5,923 – –
Advances to staff 28 36 – –
Advance payment to suppliers 78 15 27 –
Loans to third parties 877 872 – –
Tax recoverable 62 59 – –
Other receivables 338 334 – –

9,486 8,259 59 136
Less: Allowance for impairment (687) (687) – –

Current portion 8,799 7,572 59 136

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 687 10,358 – –
Written off during the year – (9,671) – –

At 31 December 687 687 – –
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18. OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

These amounts are unsecured and non-interest bearing except for loans to third parties which bear a weighted 
average interest rate at 7.0 % (2022: 7.0%) per annum, repayable upon demand and to be settled in cash. 
Interest for this loan has been waived for two years with effect from 1 January 2022 as per addendum signed 
on 1 January 2022.

Loans to third parties included an amount of US$877,000 (2022: US$872,000) secured by investment securities 
owned by the borrower.

Other receivables that were impaired

Other receivables that were individually impaired at the end of the reporting period mainly relate to interest on 
long outstanding loans to third parties.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has provided a cumulative allowance of US$687,000 (2022: US$687,000) 
for impairment of loan to third parties with a nominal amount of US$877,000 (2022: US$872,000).

Other receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December were as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Singapore Dollar 1,082 1,030 59 134
Euro – 65 – –
Japanese Yen – 148 – –
Brunei Dollar 75 110 – –
Indian Rupee 25 119 – –

19. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Current:
At fair value through profit or loss

– Equity securities (quoted) (Note 37) 45 23
Non-current:
At fair value through other comprehensive income

– Equity securities (unquoted) (Note 37) – –
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20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash at banks and on hand 26,676 20,596 3,030 2,545
Short-term bank deposits – 5,000 – –

26,676 25,596 3,030 2,545

Less: Restricted cash and bank balance (2,021) (1,989)

Cash and bank balances in the consolidated  
cash flow statement 24,655 23,607

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

As at balance sheet date, the amount of cash and bank balances that were not available for use was 
US$2,021,000 (2022: US$1,989,000).

Cash and bank balances denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December were as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Singapore Dollar 9,616 3,265 72 126
Indian Rupee 82 93 – –
Brunei Dollar 85 60 – –

21. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled immediately or on 60-day term. Trade 
payables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December were as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Singapore Dollar 2,269 1,354
Malaysian Ringgit 22 4
Japanese Yen 31 20
Euro 76 114
Brunei Dollar 36 140
United Arab Emirates Dirham 220 262
Saudi Riyal 3 554
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22. OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Current:
Other payables 231 282 26 71
Deposits received 26 125 – –
Accrued operating expenses 10,029 6,412 92 109
Accrued tax expenses 185 181 – –
Deferred gain on sale of vessels to joint ventures and 

associate 466 466 – –
Advance billings to customers 3,453 8,121 – –

14,390 15,587 118 180
Non-current:
Deferred gain on sale of vessels to joint ventures and 

associate 3,817 3,817 – –

Total other liabilities 18,207 19,404 118 180

Other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled immediately or on 60-day term.

Included within accrued operating expenses were US$1,149,584 (2022: US$535,000) of accrued interest 
payables for bank facilities.

Deposits received relate to deposits collected from customers as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Deferred gain on sale of vessels to joint ventures and associates are amortised to profit or loss when realised, 
such as upon disposal or depreciation of the vessels by the joint ventures and associates. During the financial 
year ended 31 December 2022, deferred gains of US$1,509,000 and US$4,603,000 were realised and recognised 
as realisation of deferred gain on sale of vessels to joint ventures and associates respectively (Note 9).

Advance billings to customers relate to the Group’s obligation to transfer services to customers for which the 
Group has received advances from customers for ship management services.

Significant changes in advance billings to customers are explained as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Revenue recognised that was included in the advance billings to customers  
balance at the beginning of the year 8,121 1,141

Advances received from customers but performance obligations not yet  
satisfied at the end of the year 3,453 8,121

Other liabilities denominated in foreign currency at 31 December were as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Singapore Dollar 3,701 1,173 117 113
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23. PROVISIONS

Group 
Reinstatement 

cost
US$’000

At 1 January 2022 248
Accretion expenses (Note 6) 2
Exchange difference 2

At 1 January 2023 252
Accretion expenses (Note 6) –
Exchange difference 4

At 31 December 2023 256

Provision relates to reinstatement cost of buildings and was made based on the estimated cost of reinstating 
the leased premises when the leases expire in the year 2037, taking into consideration current market 
assessment of the time value of money.

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Amounts due to associate 4 6,662 – –
Amounts due to joint ventures 3,693 3,886 – –
Amounts due to related parties 1,609 1,253 – –
Amounts due to subsidiaries – – 316 308

5,306 11,801 316 308

Amounts due to related companies comprised:
Trade 5,226 5,395 – –
Non-trade 80 6,406 8 –
Loans – – 308 308

5,306 11,801 316 308

Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to be 
settled in cash.

Amounts due to related companies denominated in foreign currency at 31 December were as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

United Arab Emirates Dirham 55 38 – –
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25. BANK LOANS

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Bank loans – current 2,021 –

Bank loans – non-current 28,298 29,839

Bank loans are repayable in 4 years (2022: 5 years). As at 31 December 2023, bank loan with carrying amount 
of US$30,319,000 (2022: US$29,839,000) was due to the Property Loan (hereinafter defined) denominated in 
SGD, a portion of the Property Loan with carrying amount of S$26,662,000 bears a fixed interest rate of 3.00% 
per annum, the remaining bank loan is interest free. The weighted average interest rate on the bank loans is 
2.09% (2022: 2.00%) per annum.

The Group completed the Disposal in FY2022. Accordingly, bank loans comprising secured indebtedness 
of approximately US$200 million was waived, released and discharged and all security interests and 
guarantees in connection thereto were also released and discharged, resulting in a gain on debt forgiveness of 
US$269,126,000 in FY2022 (Note 2 and 5(b)).

The Group also completed the Schemes of Arrangement in FY2022, following which the Group made payments 
of the remaining unsecured debt in accordance with the terms of the schemes and recognised a gain on debt 
forgiveness of bank loan principals, accrued interest payable, loan guarantee and trade payables in FY2022 
(Note 2 and 5(b)).

The bank loan that remains relate to the property loan which is denominated in SGD and secured by a mortgage 
over property and buildings as well as certain equipment (the “Property”)(the “Property Loan”).

Under the restructuring agreement for the Property Loan, the bank loan outstanding was reduced to 
US$29,551,000 and correspondingly a gain on debt forgiveness of US$22,258,000 was recognised in FY2022.

The lender of the Property Loan has the option to sell the Property or to purchase CrestSA Marine & Offshore 
Pte Ltd (the “Borrower”), a subsidiary of the Company, (by first acquiring the whole issued and paid-up capital 
of the Borrower for a purchase consideration of US$1.00), and apply the net sale proceeds towards settlement 
of all outstanding amounts under the Property Loan, if the net sale proceed is insufficient to fully repay the 
Property Loan, all unpaid sum shall be deemed written off and discharged in full by the lender. The terms of the 
Property Loan include a requirement for the Group to make an advance interest payment.

As at 31 December 2023, cash balance of US$2,021,246 (2022:US$1,989,000) has been set aside and is 
restricted for payment of the advance interest.

The Company has provided a corporate guarantee of US$18,000,000 (2022: US$18,000,000) for the Property 
Loan (Note 35).

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Non-cash changes

1 January 
2023 Cash flows

Foreign 
exchange Other

31 December 
2023

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Bank loans
– current – – – 2,021 2,021
– non-current 29,839 – 480 (2,021) 28,298
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25. BANK LOANS (CONT’D)

Non-cash changes

1 January 
2022 Cash flows

Foreign 
exchange Other(1)

31 December 
2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Bank loans
– current 386,584 – (1,093) (385,491) –
– non-current – – 220 29,619 29,839

(1) Amount relates to gain on debt forgiveness of bank loans of US$269,126,000 (Note 5(b)), bank loans repaid pursuant to consensual 
disposal of assets held for sale and transfer to other liabilities due to restructuring.

26. LEASE LIABILITIES

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Lease liabilities 7,966 8,167
Less: Current portion (1,046) (1,012)

Lease liabilities (Non-current portion) 6,920 7,155

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Non-cash changes

1 January 
2023 Cash flows Additions

Foreign 
exchange Other

31 December 
2023

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Lease liabilities
– current 1,012 (383) 51 19 347 1,046
– non-current 7,155 – – 158 (393) 6,920

Total 8,167 (383) 51 177 (46) 7,966

Non-cash changes

1 January 
2022 Cash flows Additions

Foreign 
exchange Other

31 December 
2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Lease liabilities
– current 983 (338) 146 6 215 1,012
– non-current 7,331 – – 46 (222) 7,155

Total 8,314 (338) 146 52 (7) 8,167

The ‘Other’ column relates to reclassification of non-current portion of finance lease obligations due to passage 
of time and reclassification with accounts payable upon billing by the lessors. The ‘Additions’ column relates to 
lease reassessment due to increase in land rental that occurred in the year.
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities as at 31 December relates to the following:

Group
Statement of

financial position
Consolidated income 

statement
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Deferred tax liabilities:
– Continuing operations 2,474 2,474 – (171)
– Discontinued operations – – –

Unremitted foreign sourced income 2,474 2,474 – (171)

Deferred tax write-back – (171)

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Movement in deferred tax liabilities:
At 1 January 2,474 2,645
Write-back to profit or loss – (171)

At 31 December 2,474 2,474

Unrecognised tax losses

At the end of the financial year, the Group has tax losses of approximately US$12,454,000 (2022: 
US$10,489,000) that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses 
arose. No deferred tax asset is recognised on these losses due to uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of 
these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with the relevant provisions 
of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the companies operate. The tax losses have no expiry 
date.

Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

There is no unrecognised temporary differences for which no deferred tax liability have been recognised as the 
Group determined that the undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates will not be 
distributed in the foreseeable future. The joint ventures and associates of the Group cannot distribute their 
earnings until they obtain the consent of both the venturers and shareholders respectively. At the end of the 
financial year, the Group does not foresee giving such consent. There is no estimated deferred tax liability as at 
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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28. DERIVATIVE WARRANT LIABILITIES

Group and Company
2023 2022

No. of 
warrants

No. of 
warrants

Exercise 
price S$ 

per warrant 
share

’000 US$’000 ’000 US$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 45,488 184 – –
Shareholder Warrants issued – quoted – – 22,455 162 0.03
Fair value adjustment on Shareholder 

warrants – (116) – 22
Management Warrants issued – unquoted – – 23,033 – 0.06

Balance at the end of the year 45,488 68 45,488 184

Pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Plan, the Company has on 19 September 2022 allotted and issued:

(a) an aggregate of 22,454,446 warrants to the then existing shareholders of the Company, (excluding the 
noteholders, Entitled Lenders (defined in Note 30) and PRL Key Management (defined in Note 30)), on 
the basis of 100 warrants for every 100 Consolidated Shares (defined in Note 30) (the “Shareholder 
Warrants”) and

(b) an aggregate of 23,033,431 warrants to the PRL Key Management (defined in Note 30), on the basis of 
47 warrants for every 100 Consolidated Shares (defined in Note 30) (the “Management Warrants”).

The Shareholder Warrants are listed and quoted on the SGX-ST with effect from 22 September 2022. The 
Management Warrants are not listed.

Both the Shareholder Warrants and Management Warrants (collectively the “Warrants”) may only be exercised 
on the date falling on the third anniversary of the issuance of the Warrants or earlier, if all Perpetual Securities 
(defined in Note 29) have been redeemed by the Company. The Warrants will expire in five years from the date 
of issuance of the Warrants. None of the Warrants have been exercised as at 31 December 2023. Subsequent to 
year-end, additional shareholder and management warrants were issued as disclosed in Note 40(ii).

Except for the Warrants, there were no convertible securities as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 
As at 31 December 2023, the number of shares that may be issued on exercise of warrants were 45,487,877 
(2022: 45,487,877).

The outstanding Warrants are recognised as a warrant liability on the balance sheet and are measured at 
fair value at their inception date and subsequently re-measured at each reporting period with changes being 
recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

Shareholder Warrant liabilities are considered as Level 1 liabilities on the fair value hierarchy, as they are listed. 
As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the Shareholder Warrant liabilities is US$68,000 (31 December 2022: 
US$184,000), based on the listed warrant price of S$0.004 (31 December 2022: S$0.011).

Management Warrant liabilities are considered as Level 2 liabilities on the fair value hierarchy, as they are 
unlisted. Based on listed price of listed shareholder warrants and adjustment for the different exercise price, 
management has determined that the fair value of the unlisted management warrants is nil as at 31 December 
2023 and 31 December 2022.
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29. PERPETUAL SECURITIES

Group and Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,492 –
Issue of perpetual securities – 2,168
Redemption during the year (748) (709)
Exchange differences – 33

Balance at the end of the year 744 1,492

Pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Plan, perpetual securities of S$3 million were issued (the “Perpetual 
Securities”), The Perpetual Securities have no maturity date and have a distribution rate of 2.5% per annum, 
which is payable annually in arrears. In accordance with the terms of the Perpetual Securities, any distribution 
is subject to positive EBITDA and minimum cash balances of S$5 million, any distribution not paid pursuant to 
the terms of the Perpetual Securities is non-cumulative and will not accrue interest.

The Perpetual Securities may be redeemed at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at any time on or 
after the issue date, on giving not less than 30 but not more than 60 days’ irrevocable notice to the holder of 
the Perpetual Securities. In accordance with the terms of the Perpetual Securities, the redemption is subject 
to positive EBITDA and minimum cash balances of S$5 million.

Until the Perpetual Securities have been fully redeemed, the Company shall not declare nor pay any dividends 
or distributions to shareholders.

On 30 October 2022, the Company partially redeemed S$1 million out of the S$3 million in principal amount of 
the Perpetual Securities, based on satisfaction of the terms of positive EBITDA and minimum cash balances of 
S$5 million.

On 4 September 2023, the Company partially redeemed S$1 million out of the S$2 million in principal amount of 
the Perpetual Securities, based on satisfaction of the terms of positive EBITDA and minimum cash balances of 
S$5 million.

The Perpetual Securities have been classified as financial liabilities instead of equity, as the Company has 
certain contractual obligation in relation to the distribution under the terms of the Perpetual Securities and the 
Company does not have unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or otherwise settle in such a way that it 
would be a financial liability.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(a) Share capital

Group and Company
2023 2022

No. of 
shares US$

No. of 
shares US$

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
Balance at the beginning of the year 451,742 188,878 725,755 162,854
Issue of shares – – 3,791,667 26,024
Share consolidation – – (4,065,680) –

Balance at the end of the year 451,742 188,878 451,742 188,878

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when 
declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary 
shares have no par value.

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when 
declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary 
shares have no par value.

On 1 September 2022, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Plan, the Company issued and allotted

(a) an aggregate of 1,807,360,000 new shares to noteholders in accordance with the terms of the 
consensual restructuring of the notes payable;

(b) an aggregate of 175,763,400 new shares to certain lenders (the Ëntitled Lenders”) in accordance 
with the terms of the consensual restructuring of various cross-currency swap facilities; and

(c) an aggregate of 1,808,543,200 new shares to the key management of the Company (the “PRL Key 
Management”) for a total cash consideration of S$1 million.

Following the allotment and issuance of the new shares, the number of issued shares in the Company 
increased from 715,428,013 shares (excluding 10,327,000 treasury shares) to 4,507,094,613 shares 
(excluding 10,327,000 treasury shares).

The Company has determined the fair value of the new shares to be S$0.095, based on the opening 
trading price on 26 September 2023 when the Company resumed trading of its shares. A net gain on 
restructuring from settlement of liabilities through share issuance of US$52,360,000 was recognised 
and included in other operating income in the statement of profit or loss in 2023 (Note 5).

Thereafter, on 14 September 2022, all the ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company were 
consolidated on the basis of every ten existing shares into one consolidated ordinary share (the 
“Consolidated Shares”) (the “Share Consolidation”). Upon completion of the Share Consolidation, the 
Company’s total issued shares, excluding 1,032,700 consolidated treasury shares, was 450,709,457 
Consolidated Shares as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 715,428,013).

Following the Share Consolidation, the then existing shareholders of the Company (excluding the 
noteholders and Entitled Lenders but including the PRL Key Management) were issued the Warrants in 
the consolidated share capital of the Company (Note 28).
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES (CONT’D)

(b) Treasury shares

Group and Company
2023 2022

No. of 
shares

No. of 
shares

’000 US$’000 ’000 US$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year (1,033) (2,135) (10,327) (2,135)
Share consolidation – – 9,294 –

Balance at end of the year (1,033) (2,135) (1,033) (2,135)

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company.

The Company did not acquire any treasury shares during the financial year. Following the Share 
Consolidation, the Company’s total treasury shares were 1,032,700 consolidated treasury shares as at 
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

31. OTHER RESERVES

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign operations (including the Company) whose functional currencies are 
different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January (1,798) (1,669)
Net effect of exchange differences arising from  

translation of financial statements (542) (129)

At 31 December (2,340) (1,798)

(b) Employee share-based payments reserve

Employee share-based payments reserve represents the issuance of shares to employees and the 
performance share awards granted to employees.

Share-based payments reserve is made up of:

• the difference between the fair value and purchase price of shares issued to employees; and

• the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded over the vesting period 
commencing from the grant dates of the performance share awards.
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31. OTHER RESERVES (CONT’D)

(b) Employee share-based payments reserve (Cont’d)

There are no outstanding share awards as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Group and Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January – 170
Reclassification to capital reserve – (170)

At 31 December – –

(c) Hedging reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve contains the Group’s share of associate’s effective portion of the cash flow 
hedge relationships incurred as at the reporting date.

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January – 114
Reclassification to retained earnings – (114)

At 31 December – –

(d) Defined benefit plan

Defined benefit plan reserve represents the Group’s share of associate’s remeasurement of defined 
benefit plan as at the reporting date.

Group
2023 2022

S$’000 US$’000

At 1 January – 86
Reclassification to retained earnings – (86)

At 31 December – –

(e) Capital reserve

(i) Premium paid on acquisition of non-controlling interests

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Balance at the beginning and end of the year (6,581) (6,581)
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31. OTHER RESERVES (CONT’D)

(e) Capital reserve (Cont’d)

(ii) Gain or loss on reissuance of treasury shares

This represents the gain or loss arising from purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury 
shares. No dividend may be paid, and no other distribution (whether in cash or otherwise) of the 
Company’s assets (including any distribution of assets to members on a winding up) may be made 
in respect of this reserve.

Group and Company
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Balance at the beginning and end of the year (233) (233)

(iii) Shares issued to employees

This represents the difference between the fair value and purchase price of shares granted to 
management when the Company was listed. The amount was previously included in employee 
share-based payment reserves and reclassified to capital reserve during the year.

Group and Company
2023 2022

S$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 170 –
Reclassification from share-based payment reserves – 170

At 31 December 170 170

(iv) Strike off of Subsidiaries

Due to the strike off of Offshore Subsea Services (Asia Pacific) Pte Ltd during the financial year, 
all capital reserve pertaining was reclassified out and recognised as accumulated losses.

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January – –
Reclassification from capital reserve 3,402 –

At 31 December 3,402 –
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32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Employee benefits expense (including directors):
Salaries, wages and benefits 7,002 6,864
Central Provident Fund contributions 540 557

At 31 December 7,542 7,421

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services for continuing operations

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant transactions between the Group and related parties took place at terms agreed 
between the parties during the financial year:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Income
Charter hire income:
– Joint ventures 1,412 810
Ship repair income:
– Associates 1,363 83
– Related parties 1,060 2,497
Management fee income from:
– Joint ventures 177 293
Ship management fee income from:
– Joint ventures – 72
– Related parties 3,383 4,824
Reimbursement of expenses from:
– Joint ventures – 1
– Related parties 930 –
Expense
Charter hire expense, ship repair, ship management and other cost of sales to:
– Joint ventures 765 4
– Related parties 4,842 4,861
Interest expense to:
– A shareholder of a subsidiary – 175
Other Expense:
– Repurchase of vessel from related party – 1,100

Pang Wei Kuan is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group as well as Chief Executive Officer 
of Pacific Radiance Ltd. He is also son of Pang Yoke Min, the Executive Chairman and controlling 
shareholder of the Company. At the same time, he is also board member of ENAV Radiance Group. As 
Pang Wei Kuan is a close family member of the controlling shareholder of the Group, ENAV Radiance 
Group is considered a related party of the Group in accordance with the accounting standards.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (including directors)

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,378 1,463
Central Provident Fund contributions 54 56

1,432 1,519

Comprise amounts paid to:
Directors of the Company 863 979
Other key management personnel 569 540

1,432 1,519

34. LEASES

(a) Group as lessee

The Group has various lease contracts on land for property and buildings, plant and equipment, and 
charter vessels used in its operations.

The lease agreements for the lease of land for its property and buildings contain provisions for lease 
adjustments that are based on market rent conditions and expire in year 2037. The terms do not contain 
restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional debts or entering into other leasing 
agreements.

The Group also has certain leases of plant and equipment with low value and short-term leases for 
charter of vessels. The Group applies the ‘lease of low-value assets and short-term lease’ recognition 
exemption for these leases.

(i) Carrying amounts of right-of-use assets classified within property, plant and equipment

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements 
during the year:

Group
Land-use 

rights
Plant and 

equipment Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

As at 1 January 2022 7,331 544 7,875
Additions 146 – 146
Depreciation (452) (70) (522)
Translation differences 42 1 43

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 7,067 475 7,542
Additions 51 – 51
Disposals – (73) (73)
Depreciation (473) (40) (513)
Translation differences 106 – 106

As at 31 December 2023 6,751 362 7,113
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34. LEASES (CONT’D)

(a) Group as lessee (Cont’d)

(ii) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts and the reconciliation of the lease liabilities arising from these financing 
activities are disclosed in Note 26 and the maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 
36(b).

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 513 522
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 6) 361 362
Lease expense not capitalised in lease liabilities:

– Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of sales) 5,600 5,366

Total (Note 7) 5,600 5,366

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 6,474 6,250

(iv) Total cash outflow

During the financial year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases of US$5,019,000 (2022: 
US$4,368,000).

(b) Group as lessor

(i) Operating lease

The Group had entered into charter hire leases on its fleet of vessels. The leases have terms 
between 1 day and 3 months (2022: 1 day and 5 years), and varying renewal rights, including 
extension and termination options.

The future minimum lease receivables under leases that are non-cancellable operating leases 
contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised as receivables were as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Not later than one year – 138
Later than one year but not later than five years – –

– 138

During the financial year, the Group has completed the Disposal and all existing charter 
agreements with customers for the Sale Vessels were also novated to the Purchaser and its 
related companies.
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the financial year, the Company had issued corporate guarantee to a bank for granting banking 
facilities to a subsidiary (Note 25).

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Corporate guarantees given for the borrowings of:
– Subsidiaries 18,000 18,000 18,000 18,000
– Joint ventures – – – –
– Associates – – – –

18,000 18,000 18,000 18,000

Corporate guarantees given by the Company will become due and payable on demand when an event of default 
occurs. Consequently, as disclosed in Note 40, this corporate guarantee was discharged.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has completed the Disposal and the restructuring of the Property Loan as 
disclosed in Note 2.1, and the banks have released the corporate guarantees amounting to US$21,487,000 for 
the Group and US$384,540,000 for the Company.

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees on policies and procedures for the management of these risks.

The directors review and agree policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are executed 
by the management team. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s 
policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks 
and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 
counterparty default on its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily 
from trade receivables, other receivables and amounts due from related companies. For other financial 
assets (including cash and bank balances and investment securities), the Group minimises credit risk by 
trading with recognised and credit worthy third parties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who trade on credit terms are 
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when oil price stays below US$40 
per barrel for a consecutive 12-month period. Under such a scenario, the Group expects an increase in 
the expected credit loss due to higher probability of default by customers.

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the asset as at reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. 
The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information which includes the 
following indicators:

– Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions 
that are expected to cause a significant change to the customer or borrower’s ability to meet its 
obligations

– Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the customer or borrower

– Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same customer or 
borrower

– Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation

– Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the customer or borrower, 
including changes in the payment status of customers or borrowers in the group and changes in 
the operating results of the customer or borrower.

The Group also determines that there is a significant increase in credit risk if a customer or borrower is 
more than 180 days past due in making contractual payment.

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

– There is significant difficulty of the customer or borrower to repay the debt according to terms

– A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event

– It is becoming probable that the customer or borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation.

The Group considers categorising a loan or receivable for potential write-off when a customer or 
borrower fails to make contractual payments more than a year past due. Financial assets are written 
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. When loans and receivables have been written 
off, the Group continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. When 
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

The following are credit risk management practices and quantitative and qualitative information about 
amounts arising from expected credit losses for each class of financial assets.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision 
matrix. The provision rates are determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates 
analysed in accordance to days past due. The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2023 
is determined as follows, the expected credit losses below also incorporate forward looking 
information such as forecast in recovery of oil prices, leading to a decrease in number of defaults.

Summarised below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade 
receivables (excluding unbilled trade receivables).

Total Current < 60 days
60 to

90 days > 90 days
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Gross carrying amount 8,217 1,331 2,764 752 3,370
Loss allowance provision 1,503 – 13 – 1,490

Total Current < 60 days
60 to

90 days > 90 days
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2022
Gross carrying amount 31,978 2,042 2,683 (261) 27,514
Loss allowance provision 18,440 – – – 18,440

Included in the loss allowance provision was US$Nil (2022: US$62,000) relating to expected 
credit loss provided using the provision matrix. In addition to the provision matrix, the Group also 
provided for expected credit loss for trade receivables due from debtors that were in significant 
financial difficulties and had defaulted on payments. The loss allowance provision for trade 
receivables as at 31 December reconciles to the opening loss allowance as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 18,440 13,971
Loss allowance measure at:
Lifetime ECL

– Based on provision matrix – (62)
– Credit impaired as at reporting date – 4,527
– Write-back of allowance (7,132) –
– Written off during the year (9,805) –

Exchange difference – 4

At 31 December 1,503 18,440
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i) Trade receivables (Cont’d)

Information regarding loss allowance movement of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 17.

In 2022, the Group commenced litigation proceedings to recover trade receivables from a 
customer. Consequently, the judgement was passed in our favour and the Group recovered the 
full amount from them.

(ii) Other receivables at amortised cost

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit loss for other receivables using the probability of 
default approach. In determining ECL for other receivables, the Group considers events such as 
significant adverse changes in financial conditions of the debtors and determines that significant 
increase in credit risk occur when there are changes in the risk that the specific debtor will 
default on the payments.

The loss allowance provision for other receivables at amortised cost as at 31 December 
reconciles to the opening loss allowance provision as follows:

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 687 10,358
Loss allowance measure at:
Lifetime ECL

– Credit impaired as at reporting date – –
Written off during the year – (9,671)
Exchange difference – –

At 31 December 687 687

Information on gross amount of other receivables is disclosed in Note 18. The Group does not 
have significant other receivables at amortised cost.

(iii) Amounts due from related companies at amortised cost

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for trade amounts due from related 
companies based on a provision matrix similar to allowance for trade receivables. The Group 
computes expected credit loss for non-trade amounts and loans due from related companies 
using the probability of default approach. In determining this ECL, the Group considers events 
such as significant adverse changes in financial conditions and changes in the operating results of 
the related companies and determined that significant increase in credit risk occur when there is 
changes in the risk that the specific related company will default on the payments.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Amounts due from related companies at amortised cost (Cont’d)

A summary of the Group’s internal grading category in the computation of the Group’s expected 
credit loss model for the amounts due from related companies excluding trade related is as 
follows:

Category Definition of category Basis for 
recognition of 
expected credit 
loss provision

Basis for  
calculating  
interest revenue

Grade I Related companies have 
a low risk of default and 
a strong capacity to meet 
contractual cash flows.

12-month expected 
credit losses

Gross carrying amount

Grade II Loans for which there is a 
significant increase in credit 
risk; as significant increase 
in credit risk is presumed 
if interest and/or principal 
repayments are 180 days 
past due.

L i f e t i m e e x p e c t e d 
credit losses

Gross carrying  amount

Grade III Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 270 days 
past due and management 
assessed that there is no 
reasonable expectation of 
recovery.

L i f e t i m e e x p e c t e d 
credit losses

A m o r t i s e d  c o s t  o f 
carrying amount (net 
of credit allowance)

The loss allowance provision for amounts due from related companies at amortised cost as at 
31 December reconciles to the opening loss allowance provision as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 131,104 114,931 9,207 360,614
Loss allowance measure at:
Lifetime ECL

– Credit impaired as at reporting date (1,887) 17,991 (1,084) (69,587)
Written off during the year (38,747) (1,850) – (278,775)
Exchange difference 160 32 (1) (3,045)

At 31 December 90,630 131,104 8,122 9,207

Information on gross amounts of amounts due from related companies is disclosed in Note 15.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

Exposure to credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk was 
represented by:

– The carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets.

– Corporate guarantees provided by the Group and Company (Note 35).

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the ageing profile of its 5 major 
customers. At the balance sheet date, approximately 13% (2022: 17%) of the Group’s trade receivables 
were due from 5 major customers.

Total Current < 60 days
60 to

90 days > 90 days
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Top 5 customers 3,247 1,225 1,204 694 124
2022
Top 5 customers 6,107 1,143 1,796 927 2,241

33% (2022: 30%) of the Group’s financial instruments at amortised cost were due from related 
companies.

Financial assets that were neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired were with creditworthy debtors 
with good payment record with the Group. Cash and short-term deposits, cash in holding accounts and 
derivatives that were neither past due nor impaired were placed with or entered into with reputable 
financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that were either past due or impaired

Information regarding financial assets that were either past due or impaired was disclosed in Note 17 
(Trade receivables), Note 18 (Other receivables) and Note 15 (Amounts due from related companies).
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to 
shortage of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk may arise primarily from mismatch of maturities 
of financial assets and liabilities. The Group has sufficient internally generated funds and receives 
pre-funding from third-party vessel owners for operating expenses of certain vessels under management 
by the Group.

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

One year
or less

One to
five years

Over
five years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
2023
Financial liabilities:
Trade payables and other liabilities 13,360 – – 13,360
Amounts due to related companies 5,306 – – 5,306
Bank loans 3,234 29,753 – 32,987
Derivative warrant liabilities – 68 – 68
Perpetual securities – – 744 744
Lease liabilities 1,367 2,711 6,099 10,177

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 23,267 32,532 6,843 62,642

2022
Financial liabilities:
Trade payables and other liabilities 18,911 – – 18,911
Amounts due to related companies 11,801 – – 11,801
Bank loans – 32,465 – 32,465
Derivative warrant liabilities – 184 – 184
Perpetual securities – – 1,492 1,492
Lease liabilities 1,346 2,668 6,670 10,684

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 32,058 35,317 8,162 75,537
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (Cont’d)

One year
or less

One to
five years

Over
five years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Company
2023
Financial liabilities:
Other liabilities 118 – – 118
Amounts due to related companies 316 – – 316
Derivative warrant liabilities – 68 – 68
Perpetual securities – – 744 744

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 434 68 744 1,246

2022
Financial liabilities:
Other liabilities 180 – – 180
Amounts due to related companies 308 – – 308
Derivative warrant liabilities – 184 – 184
Perpetual securities – – 1,492 1,492

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 488 184 1,492 2,164

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group and Company’s contingent 
liabilities. The maximum amount of the corporate guarantee contracts are allocated to the earliest 
period in which the guarantee could be called.

One year
or less

US$’000

2023
Group
Corporate guarantees 18,000

Company
Corporate guarantees 18,000

2022
Group
Corporate guarantees 18,000

Company
Corporate guarantees 18,000
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises 
primarily from its bank loans.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, there are no bank loans with floating interest rates 
following the completion of the Debt Restructuring Plan.

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in 
a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily USD.

The Group’s financial results can be affected by movements in the USD/SGD exchange rates arising from 
the portion of cost of sales and operating expenses that are denominated in SGD.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before taxation to a reasonably 
possible change in the SGD exchange rates against the USD, with all other variables held constant. The 
analysis was performed on the same basis for 2022.

Group
Profit before taxation

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

USD/SGD – strengthened 3% (2022: 3%) 932 1,126
– weakened 3% (2022: 3%) (932) (1,126)

PACIFIC RADIANCE
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

114

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



37. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled 
between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation 
sale.

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the 
valuation inputs used as follows:

– Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Group can access at the measurement date,

– Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and

– Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety 
in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement.

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value

The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value at 
the end of the reporting period:

2023
US$’000

Fair value measurements at the end of
the reporting period using

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identifiable 
instruments 

(Level 1)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 3) Total

Group
Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets:
Equity securities at fair value through  

profit or loss (Note 19)
Quoted equity securities 45 – 45
Equity securities at FVOCI (Note 19)
Unquoted equity securities – – –

Financial assets as at 31 December 2023 45 – 45
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37. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value (Cont’d)

2023
US$’000

Fair value measurements at the end of
the reporting period using

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identifiable 
instruments 

(Level 1)

Inputs other 
than quoted 

prices that are 
observable 

(Level 2) Total

Group
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities:
Derivatives not designated as  

hedging instrument (Note 28)
Derivative warrant liabilities 68 – 68

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2023 68 – 68

2022
US$’000

Fair value measurements at the end of
the reporting period using

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identifiable 
instruments 

(Level 1)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 3) Total

Group
Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets:
Equity securities at fair value through  

profit or loss (Note 19)
Quoted equity securities 23 – 23
Equity securities at FVOCI (Note 19)
Unquoted equity securities – – –

Financial assets as at 31 December 2022 23 – 23
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37. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value (Cont’d)

2022
US$’000

Fair value measurements at the end of
the reporting period using

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identifiable 
instruments 

(Level 1)

Inputs other 
than quoted 

prices that are 
observable 

(Level 2) Total

Group
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities:
Derivatives not designated as hedging  

instrument (Note 28)
Derivative warrant liabilities 184 – 184

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022 184 – 184

(iii) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

(a) Trade and other receivables, trade payables and other liabilities, amounts due from/(to) related 
companies, cash and bank balances and cash pledged.

The carrying amounts of these balances approximate fair values due to their short-term nature.

(b) Bank loans at floating rate, amounts due from related companies and lease liabilities.

The carrying value of the bank loans approximate fair value as these balances are of variable 
interest rate with re-pricing features.

The carrying value of lease liabilities and amounts due from related companies approximate fair 
value as the current lending rates for similar types of lending arrangements are not materially 
different from the rates obtained by the Group.
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37. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(iii) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value (Cont’d)

Financial instruments by category

Set below is a comparison by category of the carrying amount of all the Group and Company’s financial 
instruments that were carried in the financial statements.

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through OCI
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
2023
Assets
Trade receivables 6,714 – –
Other receivables 8,325 – –
Amounts due from related companies 17,803 – –
Investment securities – 45 –
Cash and bank balances 26,676 – –

59,518 45 –

2022
Assets
Trade receivables 14,571 – –
Other receivables 6,888 – –
Amounts due from related companies 20,564 – –
Investment securities – 23 –
Cash and bank balances 25,596 – –

67,619 23 –
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37. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(iii) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value (Cont’d)

Financial instruments by category (Cont’d)

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss
US$’000 US$’000

Group
2023
Liabilities
Trade payables 3,074 –
Other liabilities 10,286 –
Amounts due to related companies 5,306 –
Bank loans 30,319 –
Derivative warrant liabilities – 68
Perpetual securities 744 –
Lease liabilities 7,966 –

57,695 68

2022
Liabilities
Trade payables 12,091 –
Other liabilities 6,820 –
Amounts due to related companies 11,801 –
Bank loans 29,839 –
Derivative warrant liabilities – 184
Perpetual securities 1,492 –
Lease liabilities 8,167 –

70,210 184
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37. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(iii) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value (Cont’d)

Financial instruments by category (Cont’d)

Financial assets at 
amortised cost

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

Company
Assets
Other receivables – 30
Amounts due from related companies 24,258 20,082
Cash and bank balances 3,030 2,545

27,288 22,657

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss
US$’000 US$’000

Company
2023
Liabilities
Other liabilities 118 –
Amounts due to related companies 316 –
Derivative warrant liabilities – 68
Perpetual securities 744 –

1,178 68

2022
Liabilities
Other liabilities 180 –
Amounts due to related companies 308 –
Derivative warrant liabilities – 184
Perpetual securities 1,492 –

1,980 184

PACIFIC RADIANCE
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

120

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023



38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capital includes debt and equity items as disclosed in the table below.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business, maximise shareholder value and fulfil its financing 
commitments. No changes were made in the objectives during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022.

The Group’s capital management strategy includes a mix of debt and equity that are aligned with the Group’s 
business strategies. The Group monitors capital mainly using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total 
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. The Group defines net debt as bank loans, less cash and 
bank balances.

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

Bank loans 30,319 29,839
Derivative warrant liabilities 68 184
Perpetual securities 744 1,492
Less: Cash and bank balances (26,676) (25,596)

Net debt 4,455 5,919

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company 37,869 23,828

Gearing ratio (%) 11.8% 24.8%

39. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s continuing operation is organised into two main operating business 
divisions based on their services and products:

I. The Ship Management business is engaged in managing, chartering and operating of offshore vessels 
supporting the offshore oil and gas industry.

II. The Shipyard business is engaged in ship repair maintenance activities.

As disclosed in Note 2 and Note 9, the Group in prior financial year transferred the Sale Vessels to the 
Purchaser under the Disposal. The business of owning and chartering of the Sale Vessels were previously 
presented under the Offshore Support Services business and Subsea Services business segments of the Group. 
With the Sale Vessels being classified as discontinued operations, the Offshore Support Services business and 
Subsea Services business segments are no longer presented in this Note.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit 
from operations. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.
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39. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

In presenting geographical information, segment revenue is based on the location in which the services are 
performed.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Ship 
Management Shipyard

Total for 
Continuing 
Operations

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Revenue:
Sales 17,541 13,883 31,424
Inter-segment sales (Note A) (19) – (19)

Sales to external customers 17,522 13,883 31,405

Results:
Interest income 277 11 288
Finance costs (39) (956) (995)
Depreciation and amortisation (476) (2,765) (3,241)
Share of results of joint ventures 325 – 325
Write-back of doubtful receivables, net 7,105 27 7,132
Write-back of amounts due from related companies 2,944 – 2,944
Segment profit 15,151 315 15,466

Ship 
Management Shipyard Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2023
Segment assets:
Investment in joint ventures 1,612 – 1,612
Additions to non-current assets (Note C) 4,753 77 4,830
Segment assets 60,436 44,689 108,125

Segment liabilities 27,099 43,322 70,421
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39. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Ship 
Management Shipyard

Total for 
Continuing 
Operations

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2022
Revenue:
Sales 15,304 17,270 32,574
Inter-segment sales (Note A) (40) (2,651) (2,691)

Sales to external customers 15,264 14,619 29,883

Results:
Interest income 53 – 53
Finance costs (1,824) (1,093) (2,917)
Depreciation and amortisation (226) (2,789) (3,015)
Share of results of joint ventures 87 – 87
Impairment of property, plant and equipment – (1,456) (1,456)
Other non-cash expenses (Note B) (7,829) (26) (7,855)
Deferred gain for non-refundable deposit upon vessel sale 800 – 800
Gain on debt forgiveness of bank loan 269,126 – 269,126
Gain on debt forgiveness of scheme trade payables 1,527 – 1,527
Gain on debt forgiveness of non-controlling shareholder loan 20,138 – 20,138
Segment profit 315,303 20,340 335,643

Ship 
Management Shipyard Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2022
Segment assets:
Investment in associates – – –
Investment in joint ventures 1,287 – 1,287
Additions to non-current assets (Note C) 981 15 996
Segment assets 62,618 47,924 110,542

Segment liabilities 42,330 44,482 86,812

Note A: Inter-segment sales are eliminated on consolidation.

Note B: Other non-cash expenses consist of impairment of joint ventures and associates, trade and other receivables, amounts due from 
related companies and club memberships as club memberships presented in the respective notes to financial statements.

Note C: Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment.
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39. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Geographical information

Revenue is based on the geographical location in which the services are performed. Non-current assets are 
based on the geographical location of the companies that own the assets:

Revenue Non-current assets
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Asia(1) 11,331 8,075 4,496 1,051
Singapore 16,553 21,044 41,863 39,718
Middle East 3,521 761 – –
Latin America – 3 – –

31,405 29,883 46,359 40,769

(1) Asia includes Brunei, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Taiwan and Thailand.

Non-current assets information presented above consists of property, plant and equipment and club 
memberships as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

Information about major customers

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from 1 major customer of the Ship Management 
Business and 1 major customer of the Shipyard Business amounted to US$7,559,078 and US$1,408,965 
(2022: US$6,597,000 and US$2,312,000) respectively.

As the Group performs analysis of geographical segment revenue by region/continent instead of by individual 
country, it is more meaningful and relevant to view the regional spread based on groupings of countries making 
up key regions/continents for the oil and gas activities.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i) On 3 November 2023, the Company announced that it proposed to undertake a renounceable 
non-underwritten rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) of up to 1,352,128,371 new ordinary shares (the 
“Rights Shares”) in the capital of the Company at an issue price of S$0.023 for each Rights Share, on the 
basis of three (3) Rights Shares for every one (1) existing ordinary share in the capital of the Company 
held by the shareholders of the Company.

On 2 February 2024, the Company announced that pursuant to the Rights Issue, an aggregate of 
997,283,445 Rights Shares have been issued and allotted on 1 February 2024. Following the allotment 
and issuance of the Rights Shares, the number of issued and paid-up shares (excluding treasury shares 
and subsidiary holdings, if any) in the Company has increased from 450,709,457 shares to 1,447,992,902 
shares resulting in an increase in share capital by approximately US$17,182,496 (before any related 
transaction costs).

(ii) On 11 December 2023, the Company announced that in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Shareholder Warrants Deed Poll and the Management Warrants Deed Poll, the Rights Issue constitutes 
an event that may give rise to, inter alia, an adjustment to (a) the exercise price of each Shareholder 
Warrant and/or the number of Shareholder Warrants held by each holder of the Shareholder Warrants 
(the “Shareholder Warrant Adjustments”) and (b) the exercise price of each Management Warrant 
and/or the number of Management Warrants held by each holder of the Management Warrants (the 
“Management Warrant Adjustments”).
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40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONT’D)

On 6 February 2024, the Company announced that pursuant to the Shareholder Warrant Adjustments 
and the Management Warrant Adjustments, the Company has on 5 February 2024 allotted and issued 
(a) an aggregate of 11,021,494 additional Shareholder Warrants to the holders of Shareholder Warrants 
and (b) an aggregate of 11,307,109 additional Management Warrants to the holders of Management 
Warrants. Accordingly, the number of Shareholder Warrants has increased from 22,454,446 Shareholder 
Warrants to 33,475,940 Shareholder Warrants. The number of Management Warrants has increased 
from 23,033,431 Management Warrants to 34,340,540 Management Warrants. The financial impact 
of the issuance of shareholder warrants amounted to an increase in derivative warrant liabilities of 
US$16,380 and a corresponding expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

(iii) On 14 March 2024, the Company announced that its wholly-owned subsidiaries, CrestSA Marine 
& Offshore Pte Ltd (“CMO”), has fully settled its outstanding bank loans of US$30.3 million (as at 
31 December 2023). CMO has repaid US$20.2 million of the Property Loan, the remaining balance of 
US$10.1 million of the Property Loan has been written off to the statement of comprehensive income 
as gain on debt waiver, thereby discharging in full the Property Loan and all securities in relation to the 
Property Loan including the corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

41. BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The independent auditor’s report dated 12 April 2023 contained a qualified of opinion on the financial 
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. The extract of the basis for qualified opinion is as 
follows:

Basis for Qualified Opinion

(a) Sales of vessels

As disclosed in Note 9, the Consensual Sale Agreement involved a total of 33 vessels, of which 
28 vessels were owned by the Group’s subsidiaries and 5 vessels were owned by the joint venture and 
associate companies, resulting in a total consensual discharge of approximately US$200 million of loans 
and borrowings owed by the Group’s subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2021, prior to the Group classifying the 28 vessels owned by the Group’s subsidiaries as 
non-current assets held for sale, the Group performed an impairment assessment of the disposal group which 
comprised the 33 vessels. The recoverable amount, which was based on the fair value less cost of disposal, 
was measured on the basis of the consensual discharge of approximately US$200 million. Notwithstanding that 
the Consensual Sale Agreement was integral to and part of the Debt Restructuring Plan and included other 
components in the Debt Restructuring Plan, management had determined the fair value of the vessels as at 
31 December 2021 was US$200 million based on the consensual discharge amount. We had included this in our 
basis for disclaimer opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 as we were not 
able to determine whether management’s assessment of fair value less cost of disposal of the vessels was in 
accordance with SFRS (I) 13 Fair value measurement.
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41. BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONT’D)

Basis for Qualified Opinion (Cont’d)

(a) Sales of vessels (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised a gain on sale of the 28 vessels held by 
the Group’s subsidiaries upon the completion of the Consensual Sale Agreement of US$17,022,000. This 
was included in the other operating income under discontinued operations. A corresponding disposal loss 
was attributed to the 5 vessels held by the joint ventures and associates but were unrecognised by the 
Group due to capping of losses from equity accounting as disclosed in Note 13 and 14. The Group has no 
obligation in respect of these losses. Also as disclosed in Note 22, the Group had previously deferred the 
gain on sale of 5 vessels to joint venture and associate companies to the extent of the Group’s interests. 
Upon the sale of vessels held by the joint venture and associate companies this year, the deferred gain 
was derecognised and the Group recognised a gain on disposal of the vessels of US$1,509,000 and 
US$4,603,000 as the Group’s share of results from the joint venture and associated companies. This is 
reported under discontinued operation’s share of results from joint venture and associate companies.

Given that we were not able to determine whether management’s assessment of the fair value less 
cost of disposal of the vessels as at 31 December 2021 was in accordance with SFRS (I) 13 Fair Value 
Measurement, we are unable to determine if any adjustments are required in respect of the gain on the 
sale of vessels recognised, as any misstatement in the fair value less cost of disposal of the vessels 
as at 31 December 2021 would result in corresponding misstatement in the current financial year 
determination of the gain on sale of vessels. Our opinion on the current period’s financial statements 
is also modified because of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of current period’s 
figures and the corresponding figures.

(b) Finance costs and gain on debt settlement of bank loans

As disclosed in Note 3, the Group did not receive continuing updates from bank lenders regarding the 
computation of interest expenses post suspension of certain debt obligations and has had to make 
its own assumptions in determining the finance costs, carrying amounts of accrued interest payables 
and bank loans to be recorded in the financial statements. In verifying the bank loan liabilities as at 
31 December 2021, we did not receive independent bank confirmations from some of the banks and were 
not able to obtain sufficient information to verify the reconciling differences against the confirmation 
reply from one bank. The Group had concluded that the carrying amount of the bank loan liabilities 
remained reasonable and appropriate based on the contractual terms of the loan facilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group continued to make its own assumptions in determining 
the finance costs for the qualifying period during the year until the completion of the Debt Restructuring 
Plan. As further disclosed in Note 5b, the Group has recognised a gain on debt forgiveness of bank loan 
of US$269,126,000 and net gain on restructuring from settlement of liabilities of US$52,360,000, which 
includes the accrued finance costs.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to determine whether the bank loan 
liabilities and the associated accrued interest payables are appropriately stated as at 31 December 
2021. Accordingly, this was included in our basis for disclaimer opinion on the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2021. Similarly, for the year ended 31 December 2022, we are not able 
to obtain sufficient audit evidence on whether the bank loan liabilities and the interest accrued for the 
period and the resulting gain on debt forgiveness of the bank loan and settlement of liabilities were 
appropriately stated. This is because, any misstatement in bank loan liabilities and associated accrued 
interest payables as at 31 December 2021 would result in corresponding misstatement in the current 
financial year determination of the gain on debt settlement. Neither were we able to conduct any 
alternative procedures to determine if any adjustments are required.
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42. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on 28 March 2024.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Class of shares : Ordinary Shares

Number of issued and paid-up shares (excluding Treasury Shares) : 1,447,992,902

Number of Treasury Shares : 1,032,700

Number of subsidiary holdings : –

Number (Percentage) of Treasury Shares to total number of issued shares excluding

 Treasury Shares : 0.07%

Voting rights (excluding Treasury Shares) : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of  

holders of shares %
No. of 

Shares %

1 – 99 26 1.01 1,040 0.00
100 – 1,000 1,091 42.50 587,240 0.04
1,001 – 10,000 1,012 39.43 3,768,211 0.26
10,001 – 1,000,000 401 15.62 49,370,800 3.41
1,000,001 and above 37 1.44 1,394,265,611 96.29

Total 2,567 100.00 1,447,992,902 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Name of Shareholders
Direct Interest
No. of Shares %

Deemed Interest
No. of Shares %

YM InvestCo Pte. Ltd. 186,188,000 12.86 – –
Pang Yoke Min 730,674,256 50.46 186,188,000(1) 12.86

(1) Mr. Pang Yoke Min is deemed to be interested in the 186,188,000 shares held by YM InvestCo Pte. Ltd. by virtue of Section 4 of the Securities and 
Futures Act as he and his associates hold 100.0% of the shares in YM InvestCo Pte. Ltd.
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LIST OF 20 LARGEST REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

 1 PANG YOKE MIN 730,674,256 50.46
 2 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 255,711,875 17.66
 3 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 83,101,683 5.74
 4 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 74,218,870 5.13
 5 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 50,558,800 3.49
 6 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 48,003,260 3.32
 7 IFAST FINANCIAL PTE LTD 24,062,760 1.66
 8 TANG CHONG SIM 21,410,000 1.48
 9 CHIA IRIS 20,001,500 1.38
10 YONG YIN MIN 11,049,200 0.76
11 LIM EE LOONG, NICHOLAS (LIN YULONG NICHOLAS) 8,995,400 0.62
12 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 6,443,773 0.45
13 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 6,379,590 0.44
14 MOK WENG VAI 4,691,125 0.32
15 TAN KONG LUEN 4,271,600 0.30
16 PHANG WEI KING DANIEL 4,240,000 0.29
17 HOCK LIAN SENG INFRASTRUCTURE PTE LTD 3,614,720 0.25
18 THE SINGAPORE POLICE CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LTD 3,614,720 0.25
19 MOOMOO FINANCIAL SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. 3,161,311 0.22
20 DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 2,711,040 0.19

                  Total: 1,366,915,483 94.41

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 26 March 2024, approximately 31.50% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by SGX is complied 
with.
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WARRANTS – W270919

Size of Warrantholdings
No. of holders  

of Warrants % No. of Warrants %

1 – 99 15 0.60 318 0.00

100 – 1,000 766 30.88 379,732 1.14

1,001 – 10,000 1,381 55.66 5,022,435 15.00

10,001 – 1,000,000 314 12.66 12,674,816 37.86

1,000,001 and above 5 0.20 15,398,639 46.00

Total 2,481 100.00 33,475,940 100.00

LIST OF 20 LARGEST REGISTERED WARRANT HOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 MOK WENG VAI 6,993,998 20.89

2 YONG YIN MIN 4,118,313 12.30

3 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,905,068 5.69

4 LIM CHAP HUAT 1,227,949 3.67

5 LIE KEE KIAK 1,153,311 3.45

6 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 489,045 1.46

7 FREDDIE TAN POH CHYE 462,029 1.38

8 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 439,650 1.31

9 KAM TEOW CHONG 437,626 1.31

10 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 282,864 0.84

11 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 259,834 0.78

12 S NALLAKARUPPAN 247,250 0.74

13 KGI SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD 246,788 0.74

14 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 246,168 0.74

15 MARC-PLAN PTE LTD 245,998 0.73

16 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 245,908 0.73

17 LAU BOON HWEE 242,266 0.72

18 TAN SIANG SENG 207,235 0.62

19 LIM AND TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 167,509 0.50

20 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 161,980 0.48

                  Total: 19,780,789 59.08
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NON-LISTED WARRANTS

No. of Warrants Outstanding: 34,340,540

Size of Warrantholdings
No. of holders of 

Warrants % No. of Warrants %

1 – 99 0 0.00 0 0.00
100 – 1,000 0 0.00 0 0.00
1,001 – 10,000 3 50.00 16,817 0.05
10,001 – 1,000,000 0 0.00 0 0.00
1,000,001 and above 3 50.00 34,323,723 99.95

Total 6 100.00 34,340,540 100.00

LIST OF 6 LARGEST REGISTERED NON LISTED WARRANT HOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 30,109,435 87.68
2 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,802,892 8.16
3 PANG YOKE MIN 1,411,396 4.11
4 PANG WEI KUAN 8,058 0.03
5 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PRIVATE LIMITED 7,708 0.02
6 PANG WEI MENG 1,051 0.00

               Total: 34,340,540 100.00
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will be held at 15 Pandan Road, 
Singapore 609263 on Tuesday, 30 April 2024 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To lay before the meeting the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2023 and the Directors’ Statement and the Independent Auditors’ Report thereon.

(See explanatory note 1)

2. To approve the Directors’ fees of S$395,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2024. (Resolution 1)

3. To approve the appointment of the following as Independent Directors:

a. Mr. Aris Sunarko (Resolution 2)
b. Mr. Irwin Lim (Resolution 3)
c. Mr. Raymond Lum (Lead Independent Director) (Resolution 4)
(See explanatory note 2)

4. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring pursuant to Regulation 89 of the Company’s Constitution, 
and being eligible, offered themselves for re-election:–

a. Mr. Pang Yoke Min (Resolution 5)
b. Mr. Pang Wei Meng (Resolution 6)
(See explanatory note 3)

5. To note the retirement of the following Independent Directors:

a. Mr. Yong Yin Min
b. Mr. Goh Chong Theng
c. Mr. Ng Tiong Gee
(See explanatory note 4)

6. To re-appoint Messrs PKF-CAP LLP as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 7)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolutions with or without modifications:

8. Authority to allot and issue shares

a. “That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967, and the listing rules of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company 
at any time to such persons and upon such terms and for such purposes as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit, to:

(i) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise;
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(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require shares to be issued 
or other transferable rights to subscribe for or purchase shares (collectively, “Instruments”) 
including but not limited to, the creation and issue of warrants, debentures, or other instruments 
convertible into shares; and

(iii) issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number of Instruments 
previously issued in the event of rights, bonus, or capitalisation issues; and

b. (notwithstanding the authority conferred by the shareholders may have ceased to be in force) issue 
shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while the authority was in 
force,

provided always that

c. the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including shares to be issued 
in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) does not exceed 50% of 
the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, of which the aggregate 
number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant 
to this resolution) to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company does not 
exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, and for the 
purpose of this resolution, the issued share capital shall be the Company’s total number of issued shares 
excluding treasury shares at the time this resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;

(ii) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or 
subsisting at the time this resolution is passed provided the options or awards were granted 
in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation, or subdivision of the Company’s shares, and

d. such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next AGM or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by 
law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”

(See explanatory note 5) (Resolution 8)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lin Moi Heyang
Company Secretary

15 April 2024
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Explanatory Notes:

1. This Agenda is meant for discussion only as under the provisions of Section 201 of the Companies Act 1967, the Audited Financial Statements need 
to be laid before the meeting and hence, the matter will not be put forward for voting.

2. Mr. Aris Sunarko, Mr. Irwin Lim and Mr. Raymond Lum will be appointed as Independent Directors of the Company.

a. Subject to and contingent upon the passing of Ordinary Resolution 2, Mr. Aris Sunarko will be appointed as a member of the Nominating 
Committee, Audit and Sustainability Committee, and Remuneration Committee (Chairman).

b. Subject to and contingent upon the passing of Ordinary Resolution 3, Mr. Irwin Lim will be appointed as a member of the Nominating Committee 
and Audit and Sustainability Committee (Chairman).

c. Subject to and contingent upon the passing of Ordinary Resolution 4, Mr. Raymond Lum will be appointed as a member of the Nominating 
Committee (Chairman), Audit and Sustainability Committee, and Remuneration Committee.

3. Mr. Pang Yoke Min will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Executive Director and Chairman of the Board of the Company.

Mr. Pang Wei Meng will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Executive Director, Chief Commercial Officer, and a member of 
the Nominating Committee of the Company.

4. Retirement due to tenure of office as Independent Director exceeds 9 years.

Key information on the retiring directors can be found in the Annual Report.

5. The ordinary resolution no. 8 is to authorise the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM until the next AGM to issue shares and 
convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate 50 percent of total number of issued shares excluding treasury 
shares of the Company, of which the total number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders 
shall not exceed 20 percent of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company at the time the resolution is passed, for 
such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire 
at the next AGM of the Company.

Notes:

1. The AGM will be held physically at 15 Pandan Road, Singapore 609263 on Tuesday, 30 April 2024 at 10.00 a.m. No arrangement will be made for 
Shareholders to participate in the AGM virtually. This Notice has been made available on the SGX-ST’s as well as the Company’s websites at 
the URLs stated below.

SGX’s website : https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements
Company’s website : https://complete-corp.com/pacificradiance-agm/

Submission of questions in advance of the AGM

2. Shareholder may also submit questions relating to the proposed resolutions in advance of the AGM. Such questions must be submitted by 
10.00 a.m. on 22 April 2024 in the following manner:

• in hard copy by post to reach the Company at 15 Pandan Road, Singapore 609263; or

• by email to prl-agm@complete-corp.com

Shareholders submitting questions are required to state: (a) their full name; and (b) their identification/registration number, and (c) the manner in 
which his/her/its shares in the Company are held (e.g. via CDP, CPF, SRS and/or scrip), failing which the Company shall be entitled to regard the 
submission as invalid and not respond to the questions submitted.

All questions submitted in advance of the AGM must be received by the Company by the time and date stated above to be treated as valid.

3. The Company will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant questions received from Shareholders prior to the AGM via SGXNET and on its 
corporate website by 25 April 2024.

4. The Company will, within one month after the date of the AGM, publish the minutes of the AGM on SGXNET and the Company’s website, and the 
minutes will include the responses to the questions referred to above.
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Voting by Proxy

5. (a) A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. Where such 
member’s instrument appointing a proxy(ies) appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by 
each proxy shall be specified in the instrument.

(b) A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, but each proxy 
must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such member. Where such member’s instrument 
appointing a proxy(ies) appoints more than two proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall 
be specified in the instrument.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning given to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967.

6. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy(ies) of the AGM must be submitted in the following manner:

(a) if submitted in hard copy by post, be lodged at the office of the Singapore Share Registrar and Share Transfer Office at 9 Raffles Place, 
#26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619; or

(b) if submitted electronically, by sending a scanned pdf copy by email to prl-agm@complete-corp.com,

in either case, by 10.00 a.m. on 27 April 2024, being no later than 72 hours before the time fixed for the AGM (the “Proxy Deadlines”).

A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy can do so via post or email and must first download, print, complete and sign the proxy 
form, before either submitting it by post to the address provided above, or by scanning and sending it to the email address provided above. 
Instruments of proxy submitted by post are sent at the member’s own risk. All instruments of proxy must be received by the Company by 
the time and date stated above to be treated as valid.

8. Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries, including Central Provident Fund Investment Schemes (“CPF Investors”) and/or 
Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investors”) should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes 
at least 7 working days before the AGM. CPF/SRS Investors should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators for any queries they 
may have with regard to the appointment of proxy for the AGM.

9. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or where 
the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company 
(a) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose 
of the processing, administration and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxy(ies) appointed for the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, take-over rules, 
regulations and/or guidelines (the “Purposes”); (b) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) to the 
Company (or its agents or service providers) the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) for the collection, use and disclosure by the 
Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) for the Purposes; and (c) agrees that the member will indemnify the 
Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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PACIFIC RADIANCE LTD.
(the “Company”)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No. 200609894C)

IMPORTANT:
1. Pursuant to Section 181(1C) of the Companies Act, Relevant Intermediaries may appoint more than 2 proxies to attend, speak and vote at the 

annual general meeting (“AGM”).
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by Central Provident 

Fund (“CPF”) Investment Scheme (“CPFIS”)/Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS”) investors who hold the Company’s Shares through CPF 
Agent Banks/SRS Operators.

3. CPFIS/SRS investors who wish to vote should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators to submit their voting instructions at 
least seven (7) working days before the date of the AGM.

PROXY FORM
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

*I/We  (Name)  (NRIC/Passport Number)

of  (Address)

being a *Member/Members of Pacific Radiance Ltd. (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport Number Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport Number Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

Or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our 
behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held at 15 Pandan Road, Singapore 609263 on Tuesday, 30 April 2024 at 
10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution 
proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies may vote 
or abstain from voting at his/her discretion, as he/they may on any other matter arising at the AGM.

No. Ordinary Resolutions For* Against* Abstain*

1. Directors’ Fees for the financial year ending 31 December 2024

2. Appointment of Mr. Aris Sunarko as director

3. Appointment of Mr. Irwin Lim as director

4. Appointment of Mr. Raymond Lum as director

5. Re-election of Mr. Pang Yoke Min as director

6. Re-election of Mr. Pang Wei Meng as director

7. Re-appointment of Auditors

8. Authority to allot and issue ordinary shares

* Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish your proxy/proxies to cast all your votes “For ” or “Against ” the resolution, please indicate with an “X” 
in the “For ” or “Against ” box provided in respect of the resolution. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes “For ” or “Against ” in the “For ” 
or “Against ” box provided in respect of the resolution. If you wish your proxy/proxies to abstain from voting on the resolution, please indicate with 
an “X” in the “Abstain ” box provided in respect of the resolution. Alternatively, please indicate the number of shares your proxy/proxies is directed to 
abstain from voting in the “Abstain ” box provided in respect of the resolution. In any other case, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain as the 
proxy/proxies deem(s) fit on the resolution if no voting instruction is specified.

Dated this  day of  2024 Total number of Shares held: No. of Shares

CDP Register

Register of members

Signature/Common Seal of Member(s)

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF



NOTES:

1. Except for a member who is a Relevant Intermediary as defined under Section 181(6) of the Companies Ac 1967, a member is entitled to appoint 
not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of his 
concerned shareholding to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the proxy form.

2. Pursuant to Section 181(1C) of the Companies Act 1967, a member who is a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies 
to attend, speak and vote at the meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by 
such member. Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been 
appointed shall be specified in the proxy form. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of its 
attorney or duly authorised officer.

4. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to 
act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy(ies) of the AGM must be submitted in the following manner:

a) if submitted in hard copy by post, be lodged at the office of the Singapore Share Registrar and Share Transfer Office at 9 Raffles Place, 
#26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619; or

b) if submitted electronically, by sending a scanned pdf copy by email to prl-agm@complete-corp.com

in either case, by 10.00 a.m. on 27 April 2024, being no later than 72 hours before the time fixed for the AGM. (the “Proxy Deadlines”).

A Member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy can do so via post or email and must first download, print, complete and sign the proxy 
form, before either submitting it by post to the address provided above, or by scanning and sending it to the email address provided above. 
Instruments of proxy submitted by post are sent at the Member’s own risk. All instruments of proxy must be received by the Company by the time 
and date stated above to be treated as valid.

6. A Member should insert the total number of shares held. If the Member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001), he should insert that number of shares. If the Member has shares registered in his name 
in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert the number of shares. If the Member has shares entered against his name in the 
Depository Register and shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. 
If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the Member of the Company.

7. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, or illegible or where 
the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies. In addition, in the case of Shareholders of the Company whose shares are entered against their names in the Depository Register, the 
Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such Shareholders are not shown to have shares entered against their 
names in the Depository Register at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to 
the Company.

8. For investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries, including Central Provident Fund Investment Schemes (“CPF Investors”) and/or 
Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investors”) should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes 
at least 7 working days before the AGM. CPF/SRS Investors should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators for any queries they 
may have with regard to the appointment of proxy for the AGM.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:

By attending the Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the Member 
accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM.
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